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Council of Members’
introduction
Welcome
NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning
Group (DDES CCG) are commissioners for health services across the
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield localities. We cover a huge
geographical area, which includes some of the most deprived communities
in England and some of the most rural areas of the country. This year we
have built on the achievements made in our first year and we have also
faced a number of challenges.
DDES CCG is a member organisation. Our members are the 40 family
doctor services (General Practices) that serve about 280,000 people who
live in the area.
Our member practices have worked closely together for over 20 years. This
has made it an easy task to engage our GPs in the Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG) but it has not allowed us to develop primary care at scale. We
have therefore restructured the CCG over this last year, bringing all 40
practices closer together and meeting face-to-face more often than ever
before.
Local family doctors (GPs) understand the health needs their patients have.
At DDES CCG we put those GPs in a leading role, so we can use their
healthcare knowledge to develop a range of services that will meet the
needs of patients at a local level.
We think it is important for local people to have a say in the kind of health
services that are available. We involve local people, patients and carers at
every stage of our healthcare planning and delivery decision-making
processes. We have started to plan and pay for new services and change
some existing services to better meet local needs. These improvements will
enhance healthcare in our area and ensure it meets the specific needs of
local people.
We are committed to improving clinical engagement in the CCG. We have
from the outset had a clinical accountable officer and clinicians as directors
of the organisation. In addition, we have developed locality leads, quality
leads, prescribing leads and clinical champions. They will ensure that
clinicians are involved in leading the development of our strategy and our
commissioning intentions. They will also be involved in making sure we use
our resources efficiently and that we drive up the quality of care that is
provided for our population.
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Strategic report
The purpose of the strategic report is to both inform and assess how we
have performed over the last year.

About us
NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG was established and
licenced as a statutory health body on 1 April 2013 through the NHS and
Social Care Act 2012. The CCG is responsible for the planning and buying
of healthcare services for people that live and use services across the
geographical area that the CCG covers.
This includes health services that are delivered in both an emergency and
in a planned way. These services include:
•

planned and emergency hospital care;

•

rehabilitation and intermediate care services;

•

community services such as district nurses and physiotherapists;

•

mental health services;

•

learning disability services;

•

ambulance services;

•

maternity care.

We also arrange emergency and urgent care services throughout the area
and commission services for any unregistered patients who live locally.
CCGs are clinically-led organisations that bring together a range of
healthcare professionals, such as GPs and nurses, with managers to use
their collective knowledge about healthcare and the local population in
order to develop services that meet their patients‟ needs.
As statutory organisations, CCGs should:
•

offer patients greater choice and control in how their health and care
needs are met;

•

provide a greater focus on improving health outcomes;

•

improve the quality and consistency of healthcare services delivered;

•

understand and plan for the healthcare needs of patients now and in
the future;

•

purchase high quality services that offer value for money;
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•

develop and design services in partnership with patients, the public,
clinicians and other key stakeholders.

Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG is made up of 40 member
GP practices and serves a population of approximately 280,000 spread
across a large and diverse geographical area. As a CCG, we want to
provide local models of service that meet the needs of the distinct
communities in our three localities.

Durham Dales
Durham Dales has a population of 90,500 people, some of whom reside in
small urban areas but the majority are in large rural areas. This locality
covers 540 square miles and offers significant challenges to delivering
healthcare. Local health services are mainly delivered through its 12 GP
practices.

Easington
Easington has a population of 94,000 people in a mixture of urban and rural
areas, however the two main towns are Seaham and Peterlee with
populations of over 20,000 people. This area is one of the most deprived
nationally and its population has very significant health challenges and
poorer health outcomes than most other areas across both the CCG. The
locality area covered by Easington is approximately 145 square km and
local health services are delivered mainly through 17 GP practices.

Sedgefield
Sedgefield has a population of 87,700 people and the majority of the
population lives within towns of Newton Aycliffe, Spennymoor, Shildon and
Ferryhill. There are some small villages and coalfield communities in the
more rural eastern area. This locality covers 217 square km and local
health services are delivered mainly through its 11 GP practices.

Our priorities
The main health challenges facing the communities across Durham Dales,
Easington and Sedgefield are linked to an increasingly ageing population
that has significant and complex long-term conditions. In addition, an
increasing number of people have poor health relating to conditions such as
obesity, stroke, depression, dementia, coronary heart disease and
premature death, all of which result in significant health inequalities. The
population also faces higher than average unemployment rates, severe
deprivation, poor housing, an industrial heritage and isolation in many of
our rural communities, all of which contribute to the significant health
inequalities across the CCG and a complex health profile.
The amount of money we have to spend on healthcare services for local
people is limited and we know how important it is to get the best value for
money when we are planning healthcare services. That is why we make
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sure all our decisions take account of the need to get the most out of all the
services we pay for.
Our vision is to: „Work together for excellent health for the local
communities of Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield‟.
We recently ran a review of local healthcare needs during which we talked
to patients, carers, doctors and other healthcare professionals, and the
public. We used what we learned to develop a two-year plan and a fiveyear plan that will help us achieve this vision. Our priorities are also
informed by the needs and inequalities identified for our area in the Joint
Health and Wellbeing Strategy for County Durham.
Our seven key priorities are:
1. Support for children and young people to make healthy choices for the
best start in life.
2. Reduce health inequalities and early deaths.
3. Improve the quality of life, independence, care and support for people
with long-term conditions.
4. Improve the mental and physical wellbeing of the population.
5. Support people to die in the place of their choice with the care and
support that they need.
6. Protect vulnerable people from harm.
7. Make best use of public funds to provide safe, sustainable and effective
health and social care to meet the needs of the population.

Commissioning intentions
Commissioning intentions indicate to current and potential new providers
how, as a commissioning organisation, we intend to shape the healthcare
system that serves the population of Durham Dales, Easington and
Sedgefield. They demonstrate how we will respond to health needs, local
clinical priorities and the national priorities for the NHS outlined by the
National Commissioning Board. Last year, we invited a wide range of
organisations to put forward commissioning intentions that would enable
the CCG to deliver its strategic aims. We received almost 300 proposals
and we were delighted with the level of interest. Every proposal was
reviewed against a set of standard criteria and as a result we developed our
outline commissioning plan for 2014/16. Durham Dales, Easington and
Sedgefield CCG and North Durham CCG have formed a unit of planning
that covers the whole population of County Durham and have developed
our commissioning plans together.
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The County Durham planning unit developed a five-year strategic plan
which includes the key characteristics of the health and care system in
County Durham in five years‟ time. See Appendix pages 7a, 7b and 7c.

Commissioning programme areas
Transforming primary care
The CCG published a Primary Care strategy to set the direction of travel for
developing general practice, the main objectives being:
•

development of access to healthcare services seven days a week
(we are doing this by improving the availability of patient
appointments) and wrapping services around the patient;
• improving services for frail and vulnerable patients, minimising the
number of people involved in their care and ensuring that all
professionals work from a common care plan;
• encouraging GP practices to work together. GPs have traditionally
worked separately yet there is a growing realisation that general
practice has to work at a larger scale to extend access beyond core
hours and compete for community based services as they move out
of hospital.
What have we done?
•

We introduced a quality improvement scheme that incentivised the
setting up of GP Federations (GP practices coming together in
collaborative models). From this, three federations have evolved South Durham Health, Intrahealth and Durham Dales Health. These
organisations have clinical leaders in place and have taken on new
services to support patient care.

•

The CCG commissioned a scheme where local GPs offer extended
opening hours every Saturday. Originally introduced in November
2013, the scheme improves access to GP appointments and was
extended by the CCG until the end of March 2015. A number of
practices ran the scheme, giving patients a choice of:
o pre-bookable Saturday appointments;
o urgent appointments booked on Saturdays via NHS 111;
o urgent walk in appointments on Saturdays.
The scheme aims to reduce the pressure on hospital accident and
emergency departments, allowing them to concentrate on more
urgent cases, and evaluation of this will inform future commissioning
of extended opening.

•

Our new GP Federations have developed new services that
proactively work with each GP practice to identify their top 2% most
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Local Quality Outcome Premium:
Increase identiﬁcation of palliative care
patients (GP Registers)

DDES CCG – Operational Plan 2014/15 – 2015/16
Key Programmes

Key CCG Work Streams

Outcome framework alignment

Securing additional years
of life for those with
treatable mental and
physical condition

Stroke     

Support children and
young people to make
healthy choices and have
the best start in life

Children’s Service     
Urgent Care Reconﬁguration     

Parity of Esteem

Acute to Community Shift    

Reduce health
inequalities and early
deaths

Mental Health     
Learning Disabilities     

Improve quality of life,
independence and care
and support for people
with long term
conditions

Wider determinants of health 
Cancer     

Primary Care Transformation     
Personal Health Budgets    
Optimisation of Medicines     

7 DAY SERVICES

FRAIL & ELDERLY

Make best use of public
funds to ensure health and
social care meets the
assessed needs of
population and is safe,
sustainable and eﬀective

PLANNED CARE (SeQIHS)

COPD Respiratory     

Support people to die in
the place of their choice
with the care and
support that they need

Quality     
Maternity Services    
Implementation of BCF    
Other     

Preventing people from dying prematurely

Palliative Care/ EoL    

Enhancing quality of life for people with long-‐term conditions.

Community services     

Ensuring that people have positive experience of care

Dementia   

Helping people recover from episodes of ill health or following injury

Intermediate Care     

Improve mental and
physical wellbeing of the
population

Protect vulnerable
people from harm

Outcomes

Outcome Domains

Treating and caring for people in a safe Environment and protecting them from avoidable harm

Strategic Aims

URGENT CARE

Improve the physical and mental wellbeing of the people of Durham
Dales , Easington, and Sedgeﬁeld and reduce health inequalities

Vision

Improving health and
preventing ill health in
partnership
Reducing inequalities
Improving health
quality of life for
people with long term
conditions
Reducing avoidable
time in hospital
Increasing elderly
people living
independently at
home
Increase positive
experience of hospital
care
Increasing positive
experience of outside
hospital care
Signiﬁcant progress on
eliminating avoidable
deaths

7a

County Durham Planning Unit – Strategic Plan on a page
Vision

Outcome Domains

Reduce
health
inequalities
and early
deaths

Improve quality
of life,
independence
and care and
support for
people with
long term
conditions

Improve
mental and
physical
wellbeing of
the population

Support people
to die in the
place of their
choice with the
care and support
that they need

Protect
vulnerable
people from
harm

Unplanned care (including urgent care years 1 & 2)
Frail elderly including existing community services
Transformation of primary care

•
•
•

Long term conditions (diabetes years 1 & 2)
Planned care (out patient reviews Years 1 & 2)
End of life

Key Characteristics

People will be involved as much as they want to be in every decision about their care,
what care they want and how and where they want it delivered

Primary care will be at the heart of the community , coordinating peoples care. Every
contact will count.
We will deliver the needs of older people in an integrated way with a credible
alternative to hospital care, with a focus on wrap around support
Communities will have access seven days a week to the most appropriate urgent and
emergency care, with Primary Care at the centre.
We will work with providers closely to innovate and develop new ways of working to
ensure the adoption of seven day clinical quality standards and the development of
eﬃcient and productive services.
Services are delivered at scale to ensure compliance with clinical standards through
eﬃcient and eﬀective centres of excellence

Enabling Functions

Integrated
Technology
Workforce –
Right skills,
Right place
Develop estate
to enable
ﬂexible health
and social
care provision

Preventing people from dying prematurely

•
•
•

Enhancing quality of life for people with long-‐term conditions.

Strategic Interventions

Treating and caring for people in a safe environment and protecting them from avoidable harm

Support
children and
young people
to make
healthy
choices and
have the best
start in life

Make best use
of public funds
to ensure
health and
social care
meets the
assessed needs
of the
population and
is safe,
sustainable and
eﬀective

Ensuring that people have positive experience of care

Strategic Aims

Outcome Ambi�ons
Securing additional years
of life for those with
treatable mental and
physical condition

Helping people recover from episodes of ill health or following injury

Improve the physical and mental wellbeing of the people of
County Durham and reduce health inequalities

Parity of Esteem
Improving health and
preventing ill health in
partnership
Reducing inequalities
Improving health
quality of life for
people with long term
conditions
Reducing avoidable
time in hospital
Increasing elderly
people living
independently at
home
Increase positive
experience of health
and social care
services
Increasing positive
experience of outside
hospital care
Signiﬁcant progress on
eliminating avoidable
deaths
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Governance
Arrangements

Values

Durham Planning Unit

NHS England Area
Team

DDES CCG GB

Durham Health and
Wellbeing Board

ND CCG GB

Durham
County Council

Providers

Be open and
Transparent

Clinical Programme Board
Focus on quality and
outcomes

Urgent
Care
Board

Planned
Care
Group

Community
services and
care closer
to home
Group

Engage patients,
service users, carers
and the workforce

Work collaboratively
with our partners

Principles

Services based
on assessed
need

Services designed
around patients,
service users and
carers

Preventing ill
health and
reducing
inequalities

Sustainable
health and care
services

Care closer to
home

Evidence based
decision making

Embrace innovation &
transformation

1.

Outcome
Ambitions

2.
3.
4.
5.

Reducing years of Life Lost from conditions considered amenable to healthcare :
8.5% for DDES CCG and 7.9% for North Durham CCG by 2018/19
Improving the health related quality of life for people with long -‐ term conditions :
5% for DDES CCG and 2.5% for North Durham CCG by 2018/19
Reducing emergency admissions (composite indicator): 5% by 2018/19
Increasing the proportion of people having a positive experience of hospital care:
2.5% by 2018/19
Increasing the proportion of people having a positive experience of care outside
2.5% by 2018/19

Strive to get best value
in the local health and
care economy
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vulnerable adults at risk of an emergency admission due to their
illness and long-term medical conditions.
•

There is national and local recognition that there will be a shortage of
GPs in the years to come. We have secured Health Education North
East funding and combined this with CCG funding to create an
exciting scheme aimed at newly qualified GPs.

•

Enhanced services, continuing to increase investment in our local
GP practices to deliver more services locally and out of hospital.

•

GP practices have many statutory and regulatory frameworks to
meet. Recently, we have assisted practice managers in training for
both Information Governance and an update on the new process
adopted by the Care Quality Commission.

•

We provide time once a quarter for GPs to take time out from their
surgery to receive vital medical and clinical updates which was not
available locally previously.

Activity in the past year has been significant, and going forward we aim to
build on this and consolidate in order to improve service quality within
primary care and make a difference to our patients.
Community based services
We are improving our current community based services, such as nursing
and physiotherapy. We want to make them more joined up and to work
more closely with health and social care. We are starting to work more
closely with local government to plan and buy services across health and
social care, and we want to increase the community services that provide
support for people in their home and allow people to leave hospital sooner
or avoid hospitalisation altogether. We are providing care closer to home
whenever appropriate and keeping people independent for as long as
possible, avoiding people having to move into residential and nursing
homes, if they don‟t want to.

Unplanned emergency care
Strategic Resilience Group
There is currently a national focus on urgent and emergency care services
across England. In response to this, the County Durham and Darlington
System Resilience Group (which the CCG is a member of) have developed
an over-arching Urgent Care Strategy specifically focusing on the standards
in Everyone Counts 2015/16 to 2019/20. The strategy sets out a joint vision
and patient centred principles, together with whole systems solutions to
achieving them.
This strategy has been developed by the System Resilience Group of
County Durham and Darlington which is a subgroup of the Clinical
Programme Board. The System Resilience Group is responsible for
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overseeing the implementation of the strategy actions and monitoring
success.
The partnership is led by DDES CCG, and includes representation from
North Durham CCG, Darlington CCG, Durham County Council, Darlington
Borough Council, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust,
Durham Policy Authority, County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue
Service, Tees Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust, North East
Ambulance Service, County Durham Healthwatch, Darlington Healthwatch,
Local Pharmaceutical Committee, other local acute trusts and NHS
England Area Team. A full list of partners can be seen at the front of this
document.
Review of urgent and emergency care services
The CCG is reviewing urgent care services to ensure patients are treated in
the right place at the right time and by the right healthcare professional
wherever possible. This is part of the five year strategy to review the urgent
and emergency care system, and to develop a patient centred vision in line
with NHS England‟s review of urgent and emergency care services
„Transforming urgent and emergency care services in England‟.
Building on its commissioning intentions, during May and June 2014 the
CCG asked an independent programme called „Experience Led
Commissioning‟ to seek the views of service users and existing service
providers: „What needs to happen so planned changes in community urgent
care services support people and families in our community to deal
successfully with unexpected or unfamiliar health issues?‟
Experience Led Commissioning delivered a full report outlining what the
public‟s views of urgent care means. The report concluded the following:
•
•

a need to educate people and families about treating common
conditions; and
a need to realign design and investment in services.

The CCG engages extensively through patient reference groups, local
health networks, area action partnerships, and community groups. This
action comes from the CCG‟s commissioning intentions, which have been
through a comprehensive engagement process.
The engagement process will capture and consider all feedback,
knowledge, facts, alternative proposals and opinions in order to influence
what options will form the basis of the formal consultation in 2015.
Bishop Auckland Hospital midwife-led maternity unit
In July 2013, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust
temporarily suspended midwife-led maternity services at Bishop Auckland
Hospital citing safety grounds. We have received feedback from local
women of childbearing age about what their priorities are in relation to
maternity services. Following further discussions with local people and the
9
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trust and overview and scrutiny committee, it was agreed that we need to
understand the full clinical strategy for the trust so that we can see how the
midwife-led unit fits into the clinical services being provided for our
community before a decision is made about the unit. The clinical strategy
for County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust is expected later
this year and will be subject to consultation.
Improving our rural ambulance service
Changes introduced in 2008 and an investment of £650,000 per year have
failed to produce the intended improvements to ambulance response times
in the more rural reaches of the Durham Dales NHS locality. DDES CCG
challenged the North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust to
make proposals for a service model that would improve response times in
this area and other parts of the CCG that are similarly affected by poor
response times. Communicating the plans to residents created significant
local resistance to the changes and in September 2014 the CCG decided to
postpone the changes whilst it secured additional clinical data relating to its
decisions. This independent clinical review process is being undertaken by
the Clinical Senate. Conclusions from this feedback will be communicated
to local residents.
NHS 111 remote appointment booking
The remote booking function was offered to DDES CCG in June 2014;
following a successful test period at Linthorpe practice in Middlesbrough.
The function is of great benefit to patients and NHS 111 call handlers. If as
a result of contacting NHS 111 the patient receives a disposition to „see
own GP‟, call handlers are able to book the patient direct into the practice
appointment ledger, taking away the requirement for the patient or call
handler to contact the practice to arrange an appointment. At the practice‟s
discretion, this could be for a telephone consultation with a GP or Nurse
Practitioner for a face-to-face appointment.
During July 2014, practices from DDES CCG were invited to test out the
remote booking function with support from North of England Commissioning
Support Unit Service Planning and Reform Team (NECS SPR). A total of
four DDES practices expressed an interest to participate.
The „interoperability guide‟ was shared with all participating practices to
configure their system.
In January 2015, a teleconference took place between all parties involved;
NHS 111, Cleric and TPP, and a successful test took place with Consett
Medical Centre.
Following the successful test, the „interoperability guide‟ was updated and
all practices who expressed an interest were contacted by the NECS SPR
team to participate during February 2015.
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NHS 111 secured funding from NHS England to take this project forward
and include other clinical systems such as EMIS. A relationship manager
has been recruited and plans are in place for NECS SPR team to hand over
the project during March/April 2015. NHS 111 will discuss the plan to move
forward with CCGs and the support required for practice participation.

Frail Elderly
The retired population in DDES has grown significantly in recent years and
is forecast to grow considerably in years to come. To support people to live
independently for as long as possible we need to work more closely with
the local authority. This is set out in detail in the Better Care Fund plan for
County Durham.
The Everyone Counts, Planning for Patients (2014/18) set out requirements
for CCGs to „Transform the care of patients aged 75 or older and reducing
avoidable admissions by providing funding/support to do so‟. This funding is
£5 per head of DDES population and equates to c£1.4m annually. We have
worked with our GP Federations to develop services to support frail and
vulnerable elderly patients that are tailored to the needs of our specific
communities.
The federations are developing and implementing services that can target
need based on detailed knowledge of the at risk population. The models
have elements in common in that advanced nurse practitioners are
providing proactive support for patients to reduce risk of admission to
hospital and care coordinators to ensure patients are signposted to the
most appropriate services for their needs.
The services are expected to contribute to:
•

reduction in in-hours and out-of-hours avoidable admissions (reduce
by set target %);

•

reduction in admissions for dementia patients living in care homes;

•

reduction in hospital lengths of stay and lengths of stay of less than
one day for over 65 years;

•

reduction in A & E attendances (including UCC) in the at risk group;

•

prevention of falls;

•

reduction in demand on A & E on a Monday from self-referrals
(through named GP);

•

reduction in delayed transfers to support patient flow.

Intermediate Care Plus – formerly integrated short-term intervention
service
Working together with NHS North Durham CCG; Durham County Council;
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust; and Tees, Esk and
Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust, the CCG offers a service providing
intermediate health and social care from a single access point 24 hours a
11

NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group Annual Report
2014/15

day, seven days a week. It brings together a range of existing services into
a single, integrated „hub‟, ensuring a more joined-up approach to care. The
benefits of the service include improved support for vulnerable patients and
easy access to support services both during the day and out-of-hours. It
also supports more timely hospital discharges and helps to avoid the need
for admission/re-admission to hospital.
Dementia
We have worked with Durham County Council, North Durham CCG and
Darlington CCG to plan how we can provide the best care possible now and
in the future for people with dementia. Following a public consultation to
gather people‟s views, we agreed a strategy to improve services throughout
the community. Our priorities over the next three years have been agreed
by the CCGs and the Health and Wellbeing boards for Durham County
Council and Darlington Borough Council.
The Dementia Strategy for County Durham and Darlington document is
available on the CCG website. A Dementia Strategy Implementation Group
for County Durham and Darlington has been established in order to
maintain progress across a range of identified priority areas. A Health
Needs Assessment is taking place to gather more information on the
problems currently being faced by people with dementia across our region.
The goal is to identify areas for investigation, pinpointing any inequalities in
service provision so that priorities can be reviewed, established, agreed,
and developments implemented to improve the situation for those patients.
Home equipment loan service
A collaboration agreement between Durham Dales, Easington and
Sedgefield CCG, North Durham CCG, Darlington CCG, Durham County
Council and Darlington Borough Council was signed-off and a new service
designed and procured in late 2014. A new provider will be mobilised in
July 2015.
Work with health and social care professionals is underway to review the
current Home Equipment Loan Service (HELS) catalogue, with a list of
„stock‟ items developed and disseminated to health and social care
requisitioners for comment. Work on reviewing existing HELS care home
policies, for County Durham and Darlington, to bring the two policies in line
with each other has begun and will be completed before the new service
start date.
Wheelchair services review
A review of the current wheelchair service was undertaken in 2014. This
review is ongoing and will provide information on the current service
provision. This information will enable the CCG to reach a decision on
whether to re-procure this service or look at other options to improve the
quality of the existing service.

End of life care
12
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We aim to ensure that GPs regularly develop and review plans with patients
who may be nearing their end of life, and we are also improving services
and options for people who are at the end of their life, providing the best
possible support, including the choice of dying at home. It has also
invested in the provision of specialist lymphoedema services.
The positive impact of these investments will mean more patients will be
able to have increased specialist support in their preferred place of care
until they die. The strategic palliative and end of life care group for County
Durham and Darlington continues to meet, progressing the knowledge and
confidence of staff, ensuring that our member practices are clear about
those patients that would benefit from palliative care support and ensuring
that our care home staff are also equipped and supported to give good
care.

Mental health and learning disabilities
„Parity of Esteem‟, valuing mental health equally with physical health has
been at the forefront of our work to improve mental health services. In the
last 12 months, the CCG has shown its commitment to improving mental
health by publishing its Dementia Strategy, consulting on the national No
Health Without Mental Health strategy and signing up to the Mental Health
Crisis Care Agreement, a priority of the Joint Health and Wellbeing strategy
set out by the County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board.
We want to improve GP diagnosis of people in the early stages of dementia
and review the patient care pathway in dementia treatment, improving
patient experience and health outcomes. We want to provide support for
more people with learning disabilities to move from in-patient / institutional
settings into supportive community settings, whilst increasing available
community support services and also support patients to recover from
episodes of poor mental health (including those in crisis) more quickly, to
return home from hospital more quickly and help to prevent further
episodes.
Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat
The national mental health crisis concordat was launched in 2014. One of
the key aims of the concordat is to develop joined up service responses to
people who are in mental health crisis. There has been national sign up to
the concordat by a number of key agencies and there is a specific
emphasis on securing delivery of improved outcomes for people in mental
health crisis at a local level. This was achieved firstly through local partners
signing up to a local declaration by 31 December 2014 and secondly by
those partners developing and agreeing a local action plan by 31 March
2015. A task and finish group has met monthly to develop the action plan.
The approach included a review of the model guidance against the current
state, identification of any gaps in service or care pathways, areas of good
practice and development of priority actions that will have the greatest
benefit for patients. Further comments have been sought from partners and
service users building on the big tent engagement event, where the local
response to the crisis care concordat was launched. It is also important to
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note that there has been extensive service user and carer engagement
undertaken across England as part of the development of the crisis care
concordat guidance.
Key priorities included in the action plan are summarised below:
•

Continued implementation of the policy arrangements for patients
detained under section 136 of the Mental Health Act.

• Developing proposals and review of protocols for people presenting
with mental health problems and intoxication from alcohol or drugs.
•

Review data sharing proposals between health and the police to
enable effective strategic planning and operational delivery.

•

Review the evidence from the national „Street Triage pilots‟.
Consider and review demand within County Durham in terms of
police time spent in street situations and in people‟s homes or public
places responding and dealing with people in mental health crisis. In
addition, review the ongoing effectiveness of the „tele triage‟ scheme
that is in place in County Durham.

No Health without Mental Health
The CCGs recognise that common mental health problems such as
depression and anxiety are on the rise. Alongside this, it is also recognised
that poor mental health is associated with a greater risk of physical health
problems and vice versa. Because of these two factors, the CCG and the
local authority recognised the need for an implementation of the national
strategy: No Health Without Mental Health. This involved working
collaboratively with a range of stakeholders to ensure the national
objectives could be implemented locally by identifying the key priorities.
A task and finish group was established which included all our key
stakeholders and partners including: the local authority, Acute and Mental
Health Trust, voluntary and community sector providers, service users and
carers. The work of the group was to initially gather information from our
existing knowledge base as well as engaging with the wider workforce,
users or past users of services and their family members or carers.
As part of the engagement process a number of roadshows and drop in
sessions were held to ensure we got a strong cross section of
views. Additionally, we met with both primary and secondary care clinicians
to obtain direct clinical input into the plans and priorities.
The final draft plan was well received and signed off by the CCGs, local
authorities, Children and Young Peoples Partnership, and finally the Health
and Wellbeing Board.
Following the establishment of the high level priorities, the strategy
implementation group took the same approach to develop the actions for
the delivery of the plan. Our partnership approach enabled us to put both
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the community and people that use services at the heart of the design,
ensuring their experience, insight and expertise shape the priorities.
County Durham now have a local implementation plan for the National
Strategy, and Governance arrangements have been agreed to ensure
accountability that will in turn ensure that the plan is appropriately
commissioned and delivered.
Learning disabilities
Transforming care
Following the Winterbourne View Concordat, DDES CCG sought assurance
on the delivery of our statutory responsibilities for care programme
approach reviews for learning disability patients. Following the recruitment
of additional capacity, the percentage of care programme approach reviews
with CCG input has increased significantly. In addition to this, the
appropriateness of placements has been reviewed (outside of the care and
treatment reviews) resulting in planned discharge into a community setting.
The Northern CCG Forum (which is a collaboration of all the CCGs in the
North East and Cumbria) has identified learning disabilities as a priority for
transformation with a focus on achieving the national requirement to reduce
inpatient beds. The initial scoping work has been carried out and will be
presented back to CCGs at a visioning event. The event will see individual
locality groups working together to agree the standards of practice set out
by the transformation team and will develop plans to deliver these „on the
ground‟ changes.
Improving health for people with learning disabilities
The uptake of annual health checks (AHCs) for people with learning
disabilities has been identified as an issue for many years and the
introduction of an NHS England Directed Enhanced Service (DES) has
helped to improve this. Nationally, and for DDES CCG, this still remains an
area of underperformance.
During 2014/15, the CCG worked closely with the Tees, Esk and Wear
Valleys NHS Foundation Trust‟s (TEWV) health facilitation team (HFT) to
offer training to GP practices around offering reasonable adjustments for
patients with learning disabilities to improve the uptake of AHCs, and
validating learning disabilities registers to improve data quality and
reporting. As a result of this work, 27 out of 31 practices have had their
learning disabilities register validated in the last 12 months and 12 of these
also accessed additional training from the HFT.
Going forward, we will be working with practices to implement a Did Not
Attend (DNA) pathway for learning disabilities health checks to enable the
HFT to follow up patients and assess individual requirements for
reasonable adjustments. We will continue to work with service providers to
highlight the importance of these health checks on improving health for
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people with learning disabilities. We will also be looking to develop local
reporting arrangements around exclusions for patient choice.

Diabetes
We asked local people to help plan a vision of great care for people with
diabetes. The public were invited to a PATH event (Planning Alternative
Tomorrows with Hope) on 3 December 2014 at Spennymoor Town
Hall. The group worked with a facilitated visual planning process to
describe a positive possible future; one designed specifically to support
people to keep well and live life to the full. The local commissioning teams
from Durham Dales and Sedgefield CCG, North Durham CCG and North of
England Commissioning Support set up and facilitated this session.
The event was open to patients, carers, family members, GPs and frontline
NHS staff, working together to help build a picture of how excellent
community based diabetes services in our region would look like. The aim
is to listen to everyone with a view to designing a better, more personcentred service.

Better Care Fund
We recognise and acknowledge the challenges we face and have
developed key aims and objectives to underpin the transformation of the
system. Our aims are both reflective and supportive of existing strategic
plans across partner organisations. Our priorities for transformation are:
• Intermediate care.
• Support for care homes.
• Fair Access to Care Services (FACS) reablement.
• Combating isolation.
• Seven day services.
Our plans and priorities are fully aligned to provide an integrated proposal
securing value for money. A summary of schemes is provided below, with
additional information for each scheme provided in supplementary sheets,
attached at the end of this plan.

Short-term intervention services
Building on the current national and international evidence base and best
practice for services which impact on hospital activity, we have developed
and transformed a range of integrated short-term and crisis support
services aimed at preventing admission to acute and mental health
inpatient services and long-term care, ensuring timely discharge into
appropriate community settings.
This will ensure the provision of care closer to home and maintaining
independence for as long as possible, avoiding residential and specialist
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placements where appropriate. The Intermediate Care Plus service
incorporates evaluation which will also include other initiatives (the
Community Older People's Excellence and falls services) plus a range of
additional intervention models.
There are clear links with the services we have developed to support frail
elderly and vulnerable patients. We are hosting a stakeholder workshop
which is being attended by primary care, acute clinicians and service
managers, and social care to ensure all services are clear of the links
between services.

Equipment and adaptions for independence
The CCG is currently re-procuring the Home Equipment Loans Service to
ensure access to equipment and adaptations will be improved for both
those wishing to purchase as well as those requiring statutory provision, to
enable people themselves to make decisions to shape their own care.
Again, this work links closely with the services we have developed for frail
elderly/vulnerable patients. Focusing on our priority to maintain
independence for as long as possible, we will transform aids and adaptation
provision into an integrated service, reflecting changing and advancing
technologies that will be sustainable in light of the growing demand for
these services and their key role in keeping people out of hospital and
residential care. We will review our current services and re-commission or
integrate redesigned services by March 2016.

Supporting independent living
Building on the positive experiences of early intervention support services
for our most complex and chaotic service users, we will develop and
transform a range of services aimed at achieving and maintaining
independent living. This will focus on some of the wider determinants of
health such as accommodation and employment. We will review our
current services and redesign a range of integrated jointly commissioned
services with an end point of March 2016.

Supporting carers
Census data tells us that our carer population in County Durham is growing,
and in addition to this we also recognise that there is an unaccounted for
hidden carer population who also need support. Recognising the value and
contribution that carers make to the health and social care economy, we
are committed to improving their support mechanisms to enable them to
maintain their caring role and their own health and wellbeing, addressing
the expected changes to the Care Act. We will review our current services
and redesign a range of integrated jointly commissioned services by March
2016.

Social isolation
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Through an asset-based approach, we will work to increase community
capacity and resilience working with third sector and community services
with the potential to transform services at a pre-health and social care
delivery stage, diverting people away from formal health and social care
services and preventing the need for such in the future. We will work with
local communities to reduce the impact of loneliness and social isolation on
the residents of County Durham. We will undertake a review of existing
services and develop new integrated services to support the asset based
approach by March 2016. DCC is implementing a new Wellbeing for Life
Model which is a key part of this programme of work. We are looking at the
links with existing services to ensure referral pathways are developed and
understood by GP practices.

Care home support
We are committed to supporting high quality care home provision and
ensuring the competency and capability to provide high quality care,
thereby reducing unnecessary admission to hospital ensuring dignity and
safeguarding standards are met. This is evidenced by the improved quality
band assessment process for independent sector care homes within the
county. A review of these services will take place mid 2015/16 with an end
point of March 2016.
We are also implementing work to ensure safe care delivery in these care
settings and we have a revised contractual requirement for clinical quality
and safer care, which we are continuing to support and apply a joint
approach to quality assurance with our local authority colleagues. We have
developed a training package for care home staff to enhance or maintain
staff competency which again links to our frail elderly services.

Transforming care
Recognising the changing environment, we will ensure supporting and
enabling services are transformed to enable integrated delivery. This will
incorporate innovative approaches to commissioning integrated services
and cultural change. To ensure that we harness the synergies of integrated
working, we will jointly review working arrangements and services to build a
continuous/transformational change culture with a focus on prevention and
integrated functions including:
•

mobile technology/integrated IT systems;

•

workforce development/redesign;

•

service/pathway redesign.

Commissioning for safe and effective care
Securing Quality in Health Services
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Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG are fully committed to
seeking and sustaining quality care and services across health and social
care. The Securing Quality in Health Services (SeQiHS) work (which builds
upon the Acute Services Quality Legacy Project) will continue to drive this,
working across the five CCGs and the three Foundation Trusts in Durham,
Darlington and Tees. The programme is focused on understanding the
opportunities and challenges in achieving agreed clinical quality standards
in acute hospital services, within the likely financial environment and
workforce constraints over the coming years.
This programme is being delivered in three phases:
•

Phase one established a consensus in relation to the key clinical
quality standards that should be commissioned in acute hospitals.
• Phase two worked with individual organisations to update the
assessment of where we are in terms of meeting the clinical quality
standards, the implications of meeting them and challenges that
exist to ensuring high quality services are sustainable for the long
term.
• Phase three is looking at how organisations and services might work
together differently in the future, and identify a model of care across
the Durham, Darlington and Tees area that will maximise our ability
to meet the standards within the resources available. The
programme has established a Clinical Leadership Group to lead this
work and it has also commissioned independent research with the
public to gain an understanding of what local people feel is important
about hospital services and gauge levels of understanding of the
balance that has to be achieved between quality, access and
affordability. The report from this research will be available in the
coming months.

Quality and Safeguarding
Quality is at the centre of DDES CCG‟s vision and values, and the CCG is
dedicated to ensuring that the services we commission on behalf of the
people of Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield are of the highest
quality in being safe and effective and providing patients with a good
experience of care. The quality of care for patients is measured against the
five domains of the NHS Outcomes Framework.
Assurance on the quality of care delivered by the commissioned services is
summarised in the monthly quality report. The report contains a wide range
of data sources that monitor the effectiveness of services, this includes
safety thermometer, incident data, complaints and quality dashboards.
These reports are received by the CCG commissioning, Quality, Finance
and Performance Committee and Governing Body.
As part of the contractual process with providers, clinical quality review
group (CQRG) meetings are also held with each acute and mental health
provider organisation, and these meetings are chaired by CCG executive
leads. CQRGs are also held with the ambulance service and independent
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providers. The focus of CQRG meetings is on quality assurance and
provides the CCG with the opportunity to review and monitor areas for
improvement, good practice and allows for challenge if areas of concern
arise. The CQRGs are key to the positive relationships that have been
developed with providers since the CCG was formed in April 2013 and
ensures that quality is reported on in an honest and transparent way.
Building on the success of the CCG‟s 2013/14 commissioner assurance
visit programme, DDES CCG has continued to work collaboratively with
neighbouring CCGs in County Durham and Darlington on a programme of
commissioner assurance visits across our care providers. This year, we
have visited acute hospitals, mental health services, the local ambulance
trust, and independent and community care providers. This has enabled
CCG representatives to experience first-hand the quality of service delivery
and discuss experiences with both patients and staff.
High level risks and issues are reported to the County Durham, Darlington
and Tees quality surveillance group (QSG) which brings local CCG
commissioners, local authorities, NHS England and regulators, CQC and
Monitor together into one forum for sharing local intelligence.
Further examples where the CCG has been engaged in driving quality
improvements and supporting the national quality agenda are as follows:

Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) CQUIN
was introduced over five years ago to encourage providers to improve the
quality of care provided to patients. The framework enables commissioners
to reward excellence by linking a proportion of a provider‟s income to the
achievement of national and local quality improvement goals.
The CCG CQUIN schemes for 2014/15 were centred on safety,
effectiveness, user experience, innovation and are outcome based, and
have included improvements in safety thermometer, dementia, diabetes,
falls and fragility fractures. The schemes are compliant with the CCG‟s
commissioning priorities.

Serious incidents (SIs)
DDES CCG is responsible for ensuring that when a serious incident occurs
that there are measures in place to safeguard patients and to investigate
the incident to prevent reoccurrence. The monitoring of serious incidents
takes place at the combined County Durham and Darlington CCG serious
incident panel which is led by the CCG Executive Nurses.

Infection Control
DDES CCG‟s target for Clostridium Difficile was 75 and there were a total
of 70 reported cases. The target for pre 48-hour MRSA was 0 but there
were five cases reported.

Safeguarding
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Integrated multi agency working is essential to support the CCG‟s robust
approach to safeguarding and it is a key priority to keep adults and children
safe. The CCG is a member of the local safeguarding board and
safeguarding adults board in County Durham. The Boards ensure that
lessons learned from serious case reviews, internal management reviews
and domestic homicide reviews are embedded in practice.
Throughout the year, the CCG has worked very closely with our agency
partners in the Local Safeguarding Children‟s Board to ensure that we meet
all the statutory requirements for safeguarding children and young people.
We have developed new policies for the CCG and have shared them with
GP practices. As a CCG, we have responsibility for ensuring that our
commissioned services meet the statutory requirements for safeguarding.
We gain assurance through the quality review groups that are established
with each provider where safeguarding is a standing agenda item. The
CCG participates fully in the learning lessons reviews and serious case
review processes for Durham County Council, but also works with other
safeguarding teams locally and nationally to implement the findings from
serious case reviews to improve care for children.

Deep Dives
The CCG has completed a number of deep dive reviews into areas of
quality concern. These reviews look in detail at a number of areas including
mortality and unexpected deaths in mental health providers. The deep
dives provide assurance to the CCG Governing Body that known quality
concerns are being addressed.

Commissioning assurance visits
Working collaboratively with neighbouring CCG‟s we have established a
programme of commissioning assurance visits across our care providers.
We have visited acute hospitals, mental health services, ambulance trusts,
and independent and community care providers to ensure that patients are
well cared for in a suitable environment. Good practice is shared, and areas
for improvement acted upon and monitored through the clinical quality
review processes.

Medicines optimisation
The decision to prescribe is the most common intervention in the NHS.
DDES CCG work collaboratively with other health professionals and social
care providers to deliver evidence-based cost effective use of medication to
maximise patient outcomes from medication prescribed to them. This is
facilitated through the North Region Treatment Advisory Group, County
Durham and Darlington Area Prescribing Committee, and its shared
formulary process with secondary care along with individual funding request
processes for medication.
The County Durham and Darlington Drugs and Therapeutics Clinical
Advisory Group, DDES locality prescribing groups, the Medicines Policy
and Advisory Group, joint working with community pharmacy, all facilitate
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the clinical engagement of healthcare professionals with the broad
medicines optimisation agenda. Use of prescribing support software,
regular prescribing newsletters and memos, support the delivery of key
messages and promote the use of the formulary and medicines
optimisation websites along with the associated agreed prescribing
guidelines. The waste medicines campaign, run in conjunction with North
Durham CCG, raised the awareness of medication waste to patients, care
workers and healthcare professionals, and highlighted that the cost of
waste medication is estimated to be £2 million across DDES CCG.
The CCG has a medicines optimisation lead, and all member practices
receive practice-based prescribing support, targeted by the medicines
policy and advisory group. There is a two-year prescribing plan in place that
covers priority areas, and is regularly updated through horizon scanning.
All practices receive monthly prescribing reports, detailing budget and
performance against the indicators in the County Durham and Darlington
Prescribing Incentive Scheme; these include antibiotic prescribing rates and
links in with the Department of Health‟s Antimicrobial Resistance Strategy.

Promoting health
For the second year running, the Keep Calm campaign urged local people
to „Keep calm and look after yourself‟ to combat the usual winter coughs,
colds, aches and ailments that are common in usually healthy people at this
time of the year, and address the increasing demand for NHS services,
particularly pressure on A&E. The campaign was launched during Self Care
Week 17 – 23 November 2014.
We also supported the NHS Flu campaign encouraging those who are
eligible for the free flu vaccination to take up the offer. It was targeted at
those with long-term health conditions, pregnant women and parents of
children aged 2-4. The message was promoted via planned media i.e.
supplements in the Northern Echo, as well as via the CCG website and ebulletins to stakeholders.
The Medicines Waste campaign ran in conjunction with North Durham
CCG and aimed to reduce unnecessary medicine waste. Currently, unused
medicines cost the local NHS around £2 million each year – money which
could be used to improve local health services. The campaign encouraged
people to only order what they need, return their unwanted medicines to
their pharmacy for safe disposal and take their medicines with them when
they go into hospital.
In response to the suspected suicides of two local teenagers, we set up a
Suicide Community Response team with local partners including Durham
County Council Public Health; Tees, Esk and Wear Valley Mental Health
Trust; police; Samaritans; CRUSE Bereavement and If U Care Share. The
response included distributing information to local schools, attendance at
funerals and at key sites local teenagers meet, issuing a press release and
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social media campaign via Facebook to ensure teenagers and their families
had access to information and advice.
We developed a Soft Intelligence Poster which was circulated throughout
GP practices, with the strapline „Your Views Matter‟ which invited the public
to let us know their comments, good or bad, about the care they receive
and their experience of local NHS services.
We also published quarterly health supplements in the local regional
newspaper (Northern Echo) letting the public know about some of our key
projects and how they can get involved in the decision -making process.

Listening to local people
Engagement and consultation
The CCG has a clear strategy on public and patient engagement, and to
support this the CCG developed three locality based patient reference
groups (PRGs). These are our regular conduit for reaching out to the wider
public and canvassing opinion. We regularly involve the public, patients and
family carers in decision-making through involvement activity and
consultations.
We work jointly with East Durham, Dales and Sedgefield voluntary sector
umbrella groups and have formed health networks who pledge to work
more closely with voluntary and community organisations. We have a
member of the CCG attending the local authority Area Action partnerships.
Our vision is to engage and involve local people and to work in partnership
with them to identify and meet local health needs and priorities. This
partnership work will continue to contribute significantly to developing
appropriate local support and services which meets local health needs, as
well as allowing us to recognise and overcome barriers and challenges.
Many members of the public are kept up-to-date via a free membership
scheme called My NHS, members of the public can sign up to receive
regular updates about the CCG via e-mail or post.

Patient prospectus
We have published a patient prospectus to provide a clear information
booklet we can distribute to the public and hand out at local events. The
booklet tells the public who we are and how we work with local residents
and organisations to improve health and care services for the people in our
communities.
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Annual General Meeting (AGM)
Our AGM was held on 24 June 2014 at The Xcel Centre, Long Tens Way,
Newton Aycliffe DL5 6AP providing an opportunity for members of the
public to observe the meeting where we present our Annual Report and
Accounts.

Locality patient reference groups
These groups enable patients, carers and members of the public to
contribute to the development of local healthcare priorities and to influence
the commissioning of local health services. Membership is drawn from
practice participation groups.
As part of the development of our 2014/16 engagement and involvement
strategy, we invited representatives from the three Patient Reference
Groups, which meet within the three DDES CCG localities, to a special
meeting held on 29 May 2014. The aim of this meeting was to give
members of the Patient Reference Groups the opportunity to tell the CCG
what they thought it was important to include in the strategy in relation to
key questions. The Patient Reference Groups were invited to continue to
work with the CCG to develop and implement the strategy. It was agreed
that a representative from each locality would be nominated to undertake
this role, providing a link between each Patient Reference Group and the
strategy development and implementation work.

My NHS
Members of My NHS (membership scheme) receive regular updates on the
work of the CCG as well as invitations to take part in events, surveys and
consultations. Free and easy to join, the aim is to get local people to input
into how the CCG plans and provides its services, how those services can
be changed when needed and get involved in decisions that may affect how
those services operate.

Public events
We organise regular events where members of the public can meet with the
CCG and give their views about local services. This year, we held a series
of public events as part of the proposed changes to the rural ambulance
services. We also held a Commissioning Intentions Event on 14 January
2015 in Ferryhill. NHS staff and GP experts were in attendance to discuss
our commissioning (purchasing) priorities and patient feedback. Last year,
we developed a two-year plan for April 2014 to March 2016. We are in the
process of reviewing our two-year plan to further prioritise and plan our
work, based on the views of our residents and clinicians as well as the
needs of our local populations.

Governing Body
All our Governing Body meetings are held in public and promoted via local
press advertising and the CCG website.

Website
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Our website (www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk) provides
people with information about our services, a range of key documents such
as the CCG prospectus and commissioning plans, feedback from
Governing Body meetings, news and events, and any proposed
developments in health and social care in the region. There are also
opportunities for people to get involved and have their say via interactive
surveys held on the website.
We are developing a strategic approach to using social media to convey
our key messages. We currently use Facebook and are looking at
harnessing Twitter to raise awareness of the CCG and also interact and
engage with the public.

Performance
The CCG assurance framework, published by NHS England in November
2013, outlines the process to be used by NHS England to monitor and gain
assurance on the performance of CCGs. This builds upon the interim CCG
assurance framework published in May 2013 and the subsequent
engagement process undertaken by NHS England to refine the framework.
As part of the NHS England assurance process, the NHS England area
team holds quarterly assurance meetings with the CCG, which, together
with the production of a delivery dashboard (previously described as a
„balanced scorecard‟), provides information on the CCG performance
against certain targets and metrics.
The CCG assurance process has been designed to provide confidence to
internal and external stakeholders and the wider public that CCGs are
operating effectively to commission safe, high quality and sustainable
services within their available resources. This framework sets out six broad
assurance domains under which this assessment will be made:
•

Are patients receiving clinically commissioned, high quality services?

•

Are patients and the public actively engaged and involved?

•

Are CCG plans delivering better outcomes for patients?

•

Does the CCG have robust governance arrangements?

•

Is the CCG working in partnership with others?

•

Does the CCG have strong and robust leadership?

The quarterly delivery dashboards are published on the CCG‟s website
once finalised, together with an overall assurance report received from NHS
England summarising the outcome of the quarterly assurance meetings.
These delivery dashboards present the latest performance against relevant
targets contained within the NHS Constitution and the NHS outcomes
framework, as well as certain other quality and financial indicators.
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Although performance against certain targets within the NHS Constitution
and the CCG outcome indicators for 2014/15 has been below expectations,
no areas have been identified within the assurance process where the
actions implemented by the CCG were deemed to be insufficient or where
additional support through NHS England was necessary.
In Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield, we have worked with our
partners and stakeholders to ensure that the health and wellbeing of
patients remained a priority, and to improve performance against national
and local targets and the requirements of the NHS Constitution.
Performance against NHS Constitution targets
CCG Outcomes Indicator Set measures are developed from NHS
Outcomes Framework indicators that can be measured at CCG level
together with additional indicators developed by NICE and the Health and
Social Care Information Centre. These provide clear, comparative
information for CCGs, Health and Wellbeing Boards, local authorities, and
patients and the public about the quality of health services commissioned
by CCGs and the associated health outcomes.
They are useful for CCGs and Health and Wellbeing Boards in identifying
local priorities for quality improvement and to demonstrate progress that
local health systems are making on outcomes. A summary of the CCG‟s
performance against those targets during 2014/15 is set out below:
Referral to treatment
Patients have the legal right to start their NHS consultant-led treatment
within a maximum of 18 weeks from referral. As at 28 February 2015,
DDES CCG‟s year-to-date performance for referral to treatment pathways
treated within 18 weeks are all above target. The year-to-date position for
2014/15 was 91.5% for admitted pathways, 98.2% for non-admitted
pathways and 94.1% for incomplete pathways.
No patients should be waiting more than 52 weeks for treatment, however
DDES CCG have reported that four of its patients had to wait over 52
weeks during 2014/15. Three of these patients were treated at City Hospital
Sunderland in September 2014 and one patient was treated by County
Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust in December. Each case
has been investigated with the trust involved in the breach.
Diagnostic test waiting times
No more that 1% of patients should wait over six weeks for a diagnostic
test. The latest 2014-15 performance data shows 4.9% of DDES CCG
patients waited more than six weeks for a diagnostic test. Overall this target
has not been met by our main provider, County Durham and Darlington
NHS Foundation Trust, with latest performance for the year being 6.6%.
This is extremely disappointing for the CCG and as a matter of priority we
have put in place a range of actions to ensure the situation is rectified. This
includes an investment in increased capacity from an Independent Sector
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provider and additional Urology locum capacity. The trust‟s demand and
capacity modelling, along with the planned actions to deliver improved
performance, provide assurance that performance will be back on track in
quarter one 2016-17.
Cancer waiting times
DDES CCG has met the year-to-date targets for eight out of the nine
categories for cancer waiting times. Performance YTD for the 62 day wait
urgent GP referral category was 81.1% against the 85% target. The target
was breached in 10 out of the 11 months (April – February) with
performance only above target in January achieving 85.9%.
Each case that exceeded the timeframe is being reviewed to identify
reasons for the delay, but at a high level the reason reported for the
majority of breaches fall into four categories – patient choice, capacity,
other/unknown and complex diagnostics. The Strategic Clinical Network
held a regional event in February 2015, supported by representatives from
all regional providers and commissioners to focus on how pathways for the
high volume tumour sites could be streamlined to reduce the pathway,
improve patient experience and improve performance against the targets.
Ambulance response times
All ambulance trusts are expected to respond to 75% of immediately life
threatening calls within eight minutes. In the DDES area, the required
targets were not met by the ambulance provider, North East Ambulance
Service NHS Foundation Trust (NEAS).
Where onward transport is required, 95% of life-threatening calls will
receive an ambulance vehicle capable of transporting the patient safely
within 19 minutes of the request for transport being made. In DDES, this
target was not achieved, the year-to-date position for 2014/15 was 88.82%.
There are a number of factors affecting NEAS‟ ability to hit the response
standards; Changes to the activity patterns, inefficiency internally and
capacity. Capacity is seen as the biggest contributing factor to NEAS. The
Chief Executive of NEAS has confirmed that the Trust is currently operating
with a shortage of 140 qualified paramedics; this equates to c25% of their
workforce and clearly presents them with a significant issue and is no
longer sustainable.
Through the utilisation of slippages in the SRG funding, NEAS have
commissioned an additional four Double Crewed Ambulances and two
Rapid Response Vehicles that commenced in January. It is hoped that this
will have a positive impact on the response times for the service. Another
step being taken is that NEAS have implemented changes to the process
when queuing at A&E, allowing the release of a crew much more quickly so
that they can get back on the road to respond to incidents. This is being
monitored through the Hospital Ambulance Liaison Officer (HALO) to
ensure it is happening and does not have any negative impacts. NEAS are
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working to roll out this process across the region as quickly as possible
through discussions with Foundation Trusts.
Healthcare associated infection
Reducing healthcare associated infection remained a key challenge for the
CCG and the local NHS throughout the year.
•

MRSA (methicillin resistant Staphylococcus Aureus) There is a
zero tolerance of MRSA which means that all commissioner and
provider targets are zero. The CCG reported five cases in total
during the year.

•

Clostridium difficile
The performance position at the end of March 2014 (validated data)
for the CCG showed 68 cases in total against a target of 75, which is
positive.

Accident and emergency (A&E) performance
Provider organisations have a number of targets in relation to emergency
care. One key target is that 95% of patients should wait no longer than four
hours for treatment in an emergency department. Although this is not one of
the CCG‟s constitutional indicators, it is unfortunately an area where
performance against the target has not been achieved due to it not being
met by the CCG‟s main provider, County Durham and Darlington NHS
Foundation Trust.
Performance in Q1 and Q2 was achieved. Performance declined in
December, January and February, a trend experienced both at a regional
and national level as a result of increased pressures and rise in demand for
emergency care. Regional discussions have taken place to share
knowledge in areas of good practice between other A&E departments. The
CCG have put in place a range of actions to ensure the situation is rectified
including winter resilience funding. In addition, weekly escalation meetings
have been re-instated, whilst the implementation of the actions
recommended by the national Emergency Care Intensive Support Team
continue to be implemented.

Financial review 2014/15
Overview
NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG was licenced from 1
April 2013 under provisions enacted in the Health and Social Care Act
2012, which amended the National Health Service Act 2006. During the
second year of operation, the CCG has worked hard to secure high quality
services, making every effort to ensure we have used resources
economically and with effectiveness and efficiency.
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Objectives and performance for the year
CCGs have a number of financial duties under the National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended). Note 26 of the financial statements refers to the
financial performance of the CCG in relation to its statutory duties. The
CCG is pleased to report that it has successfully met all of its statutory
financial duties in 2014/15. This reflects a strong financial grip and effective
financial management within the organisation. Control totals during the
course of the year were agreed with NHS England Durham, Darlington and
Tees area team. The CCG‟s successful management of financial risks and
financial management has ensured that these control totals have been met.
The CCG‟s successful results in 2014/15 are set out in the table below with
further detail included within the full annual accounts attached to this annual
report.
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Target

Achievement

Target
met?

To deliver a minimum 1%
surplus against the revenue
allocation.

Revenue surplus of £8.973
million against a revenue
resource limit of £431.696
million (2.1%).

Yes

To contain capital spending
with the overall capital
resource limit.

The CCG was allocated a
minimal capital resource
limit of £10,000 in 2013/14,
but did not incur any capital
expenditure.

Yes

To contain cash usage within
its cash limit set by NHS
England.

Cash drawdown has been
within the allocation set by
NHS England.

Yes

To achieve the quality,
innovation, productivity and
prevention (QIPP) target for
the year.

The CCG had delivered
£22.5 million of QIPP
during 2014/15 and met the
QIPP target.

Yes

To pay valid invoices on time in
line with the better payment
practice code.

The CCG is exceeding its
target of paying 95% of
NHS and non-NHS invoices
within 30 days.

Yes

To contain running costs within
the running cost allowance set
by NHS England.

Running costs have been
contained within the
running cost allowance of
£7.513 million.

Yes

Expenditure not to exceed resource limits
Unlike commercial companies that make a profit or loss, CCGs are set
resource limits within which they must contain net expenditure for the year.
There are separate resource limits for revenue and capital expenditure.
Revenue expenditure is further broken down into programme (healthcare)
expenditure, and running costs expenditure.
Operational financial balance
The CCG‟s overall revenue resource limit (RRL) for the year was £431.695
million. The value of the RRL is calculated by NHS England and is based
upon the weighted capitation formula. This formula is based on the
population served by the CCG amended for factors including age, need and
market forces. This funding is used to pay for hospital services, community
services, mental health services, prescribing costs for drugs and
appliances, and CCG running costs. Relevant costs amounted to £422.722
million and resulted in an under-spend or surplus delivery of £8.973 million
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or 2.1%. This is consistent with requirements to deliver a minimum surplus
of at least 1% of the RRL.
Capital resource limit
The CCG was allocated a minimal capital resource limit of £10,000. The
CCG has not incurred any capital expenditure in-year, and therefore the
requirement to contain capital expenditure within the capital resource limit
has been met.
Other financial targets and disclosures
In addition to the above statutory duties, CCGs have similar responsibilities
to other NHS organisations to record performance against the Department
of Health‟s better payment practice code.
Compliance with better payment practice code
The CCG is an approved signatory to the prompt payments code. All NHS
organisations are required to make payments to their creditors within their
contract terms or within 30 days where no terms have been agreed. The
target is to pay all valid invoices within this timescale, and performance is
monitored during the year.
Performance against this code has been good, with the CCG achieving
close to 100% of valid invoices paid within timescales. Details of the
performance against the code can be found in note 6.1 of the
accompanying annual accounts.
Running costs
Actual running costs for 2014/15 amount to £6.453 million or £22.41 per
head of population for commissioning services. This running cost is within
the running cost allowance set out by NHS England, which amounted to
£7.513 million.
Expenditure in 2014/15 financial year
In 2014/15, the CCG has spent £416 million in the year on healthcare
services for the population of Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield,
and a further £6 million on administration for the running of the CCG. The
areas of spend are shown in the pie chart below and each of the areas is
described in further detail below:

31

NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group Annual Report
2014/15

DDES CCG Expenditure Profile
Organisation running costs 2%
Prescribing / primary care 16%
Continuing healthcare 4%
Community services 13%
Mental health and learning
disability 13%
Ambulance services 3%
Acute healthcare 49%

•
•
•

•
•

•

•

Acute healthcare represents the majority of the CCG‟s costs and
includes the cost of contracts with hospitals to provide services such as
accident and emergency, maternity, general medicine and surgery.
Ambulance services costs include the costs of emergency ambulances,
the costs of patient conveyance to and from hospitals, and the NHS 111
service.
Prescribing and primary care includes the cost of drugs prescribed and
provided by GPs as part of the service they provide for our residents,
plus the costs of additional services provided by GPs and community
pharmacies. The cost of the contract for the Out of Hours and Walk In
Centre services are also included here.
Community services includes the cost of the services provided in a
community setting or in patients‟ own homes, such as District Nurses,
Therapists and Community Clinics.
Mental Health and Learning Disability services include the costs of our
main contracts to provide mental health and learning disability support
services. This includes psychological therapies (counselling services)
and inpatient medical care for patients with mental health conditions.
Also included are bespoke packages of care for mental health and
learning disability clients.
Continuing Healthcare is a package of medical care arranged and
funded solely by the NHS. It can be delivered in any setting and can
include the full cost of a place in a nursing home. The CCG has a
number of residents who meet the criteria, and have been assessed as
eligible for fully funded NHS care.
Organisation running costs are the costs of the functions within the CCG
which support the process of commissioning the healthcare services

32

NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group Annual Report
2014/15

described above. This includes services bought from the North of
England Commissioning Support Service.
Key financial investments
Financial pressures arise each year. The CCG has been able to manage
these by prudent financial planning and careful financial management. The
CCG has continued to ensure financial stability and probity while ensuring
that resources were used as efficiently and effectively as possible in
meeting the objectives set out in the CCG‟s plan for 2014/15.
The CCG has continued to support its main providers of secondary care
services and in overall terms the majority of funding continues to be spent
on acute hospital services. Significant additional investment has also been
provided for a range of new and additional services including investment in
services in community and primary care settings to support the CCG key
strategic objectives.
The CCG has also successfully worked with providers to deliver planned
efficiencies under the quality, innovation, productivity and prevention
programme. In 2014/15, quality, innovation, productivity and prevention
activities amounting to £22.5 million has been identified, through
transformation work and release of efficiencies via contracts, enabling
subsequent re-investment into priority areas.
Pensions
Details of the accounting for pension liabilities can be found in the
employee benefits notes in the full set of the CCG accounts (note 4.5).
Further details of directors‟ pension benefits can be found in the
remuneration report section of this document.
Audit and assurance committee
The CCG operates an audit and assurance committee which reports to the
Governing Body. The role of chair of the audit and assurance committee
was undertaken by the lay member on the Governing Body with
responsibility for governance and audit, Keith Tallintire, with the deputy
chair role undertaken by David Taylor-Gooby. Details of the membership
and attendance at the Audit and Assurance Committee are shown in the
members‟ report section within this annual report.
Directors’ disclosure of information to auditors
The statement of directors‟ responsibilities in respect of the accounts can
be found in the remuneration report.
Summary
The CCG has focused upon the challenging delivery agenda in 2014/15
and delivery of value for money whilst improving the health of its population
within available resources. A copy of the full set of the CCG‟s annual
accounts for 2014/2015 is published alongside this annual report. The
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2014/15
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Financial reporting manual issued by HM Treasury, and Annual accounts
guidance 2014/15 published by NHS England.
External auditors
Following a procurement and selection process undertaken by the Audit
Commission, Deloitte LLP was appointed auditors to the CCG for both
2013/14 and 2014/15 financial years. The cost of audit services can be
found in note 5 of the CCG‟s financial statements. The auditors bring an
annual work plan to the audit and assurance committee for approval. This
states that the audit team are independent of the CCG and also would
include any details of non-audit work if applicable. When considering
whether the level of any non-audit work is appropriate the CCG would
consider the composition of the team (and whether any audit team
members are involved) and the level of fees.
Annual accounts
The accounts of the CCG are attached to this annual report and have been
prepared under a direction issued by the NHS commissioning board under
the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The next 12 months
The financial pressures facing the NHS are substantial and well
documented, with the impact of an ageing and growing population leading
to significantly increased costs against a backdrop of limited financial
resources.
These pressures are set out in NHS England‟s A call to action report
published in July 2013, which estimates that if current models of care
continue the NHS will face a funding gap of around £30 billion between
2013/14 and 2020/21 (approximately 22% of projected costs in 2020/21).
The CCG has produced a two-year operational plan and refreshed its fiveyear strategic plan as part of the County Durham unit of planning. This plan
identifies how we will address the pressures over the next five years. The
plan has a specific focus on:
• meeting the healthcare challenges of the increasing numbers of the frail
and elderly in our population;
• transforming the delivery of urgent care services and ensuring as many
people as possible see their GP appropriately;
• implementation and delivery of seven-day services across the NHS and
social care;
• delivery of cohesive short-term intervention services which prevent acute
admissions;
• the continued development and delivery of primary care and community
care services at scale to ensure sustainability and innovation.
A key element of the CCG‟s plan is the Better Care Fund. This is a single
pooled budget across three key stakeholders of NHS Durham Dales,
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Easington and Sedgefield CCG, NHS North Durham CCG and Durham
County Council. The Better Care Fund is designed to enable service
transformation through the development of integrated health and social
care. Nationally, the Better Care Fund amounts to £3.8 billion, with the total
value of the fund across County Durham amounting to £43.7 million. The
better care fund is designed to deliver significant shifts in activity from
secondary care and acute services to primary and community settings,
enabling care to be provided closer to home and thereby supporting the
integration of health and social care.
The creation of the Better Care Fund brings significant challenges for the
CCG and the local health economy as it requires the delivery of activity
reductions in non-elective care in acute settings to release the funding
required to support investment in more appropriate community-based
health and social care services.
The CCG‟s plans are supported by robust and realistic financial plans which
incorporate the expected impact of the Better Care Fund and other strategic
objectives, and provide a stable financial foundation upon which to deliver
the transformational change required to shift activity, and related costs out
of hospital care.
The 2015/16 budget was approved by the CCG‟s Governing Body in March
2015, this budget invests in the priority areas as set out in the CCG‟s twoyear operational plan and reflects the direction of travel required to achieve
the objectives set out in the five-year strategic plan.

Compliance with duties
We certify that the CCG has complied with the statutory duties laid down in
the NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012).

Dr Stewart Findlay
Accountable Officer
29 May 2015

Sustainability and the environment
As part of the 2013 authorisation process, CCGs have self-certified
compliance to the statement:
„We declare that at the point of authorisation our CCG will demonstrate
commitment to promoting environmental and social sustainability through
our actions as a corporate body as well as a commissioner.
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Sustainability has become increasingly important as the impact of peoples'
lifestyles and business choices are changing the world in which we live. We
acknowledge this responsibility to our patients, local communities and the
environment by working hard to minimise our footprint. Working in a
sustainable way has meant rethinking a lot of what we do. It affects not only
the major strategic decisions we take but also how we go about our daily
business.
Getting these decisions right will not only help us save money, eliminate
unnecessary waste in the system and reduce our carbon footprint; it
demonstrates to partners and the public that the CCG is dedicated to
enhancing individuals‟ wellbeing through our work as commissioners of
high quality health services, but also by enhancing the wellbeing of the local
and global community through taking seriously our corporate
responsibilities.
Modelled Carbon Footprint
The majority of the environmental and social impacts are through the
services we commission. Therefore, the following information uses a scaled
model based on work performed by the Sustainable Development Unit
(SDU) in 2009/10. More information available here:
http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-strategy/reporting/nhs-carbonfootprint.aspx
This calculation results in an estimated total carbon footprint of 2,859
tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent emissions (tCO₂ e) in the following
proportions.

Proportions of Carbon
Footprint
01%
Energy Travel
38%
61%

Procurement
Commissioning

Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in direct effects
to the healthcare estates, but also to patient health. Examples of recent
years include the effects of heat waves, extreme temperatures and
prolonged periods of cold, floods, droughts etc. Our planning considers the
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need to adapt the delivery the organisation's activities and infrastructure to
climate change and adverse weather events.
Partnerships
As a commissioning and contracting organisation, we will need effective
contract mechanisms to deliver our ambitions for sustainable healthcare
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delivery. The NHS policy framework already sets the scene for commissioners and providers to operate in a sustainable manner.
We have not currently established any strategic partnerships. For commissioned services here is the sustainability comparator for
our providers:
Organisation Name
SDMP

GCC

Board Lead

Adaptation

SD
Reporting
score

County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust

Yes

No

Yes

No

Excellent

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Excellent

North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Minimum

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust

No

No

Yes

Yes

Poor

North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust

No

No

Yes

Yes

Poor

Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust

Yes

No

Yes

Yes

Minimum

SDMP = Organisation has a board approved Sustainable Development Management Plan
GCC = Organisation uses a Good Corporate Citizenship Tool
More information on these measures is available here:
http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-strategy/reporting/sdmp-annual-reporting.aspx
Performance
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute towards the level of ambition set in 2014 of
reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public health and social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) equivalent to a 28%
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reduction from a 2013 baseline by 2020. As a relatively new organisation, we have been collecting this data during 2014/15 and our
information is shown below:
Energy use
The CCG monitors its energy usage and uses renewable resources where feasible, including solar panel energy at our main site,
Sedgefield Community Hospital. Our energy usage for 2014/15 is shown below:

Carbon Emissions - Energy Use

2014/15

12.00
23,267
4.88
7,567
4.69

Total Energy CO2e

9.57

Total Energy Spend

£48,000

Carbon (tCO2e)

Resource
Use
(kWh)
Gas
tCO2e
Use
Electricity (kWh)
tCO2e

10.00
8.00
6.00
4.00
2.00
0.00
2014/15
Gas

Electricity

Waste
The CCG occupies part of a larger clinical site and it has been unable to separately identify the volume and cost of waste disposal
from the larger site to date.
However, the CCG works hard to minimise the creation of waste. The CCG has a robust approach to recycling. Paper, cardboard,
glass, metal, ink cartridges, batteries, electrical goods and confidential waste are all recycled.
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Water
The CCG has begun to monitor water usage in the year, and figures for 2014/15 are shown below:
Water
Mains

2014/15
m

3

tCO2e

385
0

Workforce development
All of our staff are encouraged to work sustainably, we promote environmental awareness, encourage low carbon travel and
facilitate flexible working where possible. We also encourage paper-light working to reduce waste.
Travel
The CCG encourages sustainable travel wherever possible. We also promote care closer to home, telehealth and home working
opportunities. Our environmental impact from travel has been included within the estimates above, based upon staff travel claims,
lease car mileage and rail mileage.

Equality, diversity and human rights
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG complies with the Equality Act 2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duty. We have
demonstrated our commitment to taking Equality and Human Rights into account in everything we do, whether that is
commissioning services, employing people, developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving people in our work.
Equality and diversity training is a mandatory requirement for CCG staff. The work done towards advancing equality of opportunity
and meeting the legal requirements has been published on our website, including the Equality Strategy, EDS and the Equality
Objectives.
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Equality Delivery System
The CCG has used the Equality Delivery System (EDS) to assist in compliance with legislation. EDS ensures that those with
“Protected Characteristics” are taken into account in everything we do. It also encourages a more representative workforce,
ensuring staff are supported and that those at the highest level are committed to promoting equality. The CCG has used the EDS to
shape its Equality Objectives. The Governing Body has delegated responsibility to the Executive Committee to oversee the
development of policy, strategy and practice and also to ensure the Equality Objectives are being met.
Staff Gender Profiles
The CCG staff gender profile is given in Table 1. This reflects our gender representation on the Governing Body, Very Senior
Manager (VSM) staff and all CCG staff.

Table 1: CCG Gender Profile
Female

Male

Governing Body

7

5

VSM

4

4

CCG Employees

39

14

The CCG can demonstrate fair and equitable recruitment, workforce engagement and employment terms and conditions to ensure
levels of pay and related terms and conditions are fairly determined for all posts, with staff doing equal work, and work rated as of
equal value, being entitled to equal pay.
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Promoting Equality and Diversity
Staff across the CCG have access to an online and paper-based copy of a multi-faith Diversity Calendar for both 2014 and 2015
designed by our Equality and Diversity manager within the commissioning support unit. This calendar highlights key dates in order
to promote the positive work that can be achieved when Equality and Diversity principles are embedded within an organisation. We
also receive the Diversity Matters newsletter on a quarterly basis to keep all staff up-to-date on current diversity issues, news and
key diary dates.
Accessibility and Communications
The CCG‟s public buildings are accessible for people with a disability. Information for patients and the general public is available in
other languages or formats such as large print or Braille and audio upon request. The CCG has earned the two tick „positive about
disabled people‟ symbol awarded by Jobcentre Plus which demonstrates our commitment to employ, retain and develop the
abilities of disabled staff.
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Members’ report
Council of Members
DDES CCG is a membership organisation made up of 40 GP practices.
Each practice has an identified commissioning lead that together makes up
the DDES Council of Member practices (COM). The commissioning lead
identified represents the practice at the Council of Member practice
meetings and has the authority to represent the practice‟s views and to act
on its behalf in its dealings between the practice and the CCG. The CCG
covers a large and diverse geography and it therefore makes good sense
for practices to work in locality groups clinical care and patient experience
can be improved.
The Council of Members‟ role is to:
•

provide strategic oversight and direction to the organisation as a
whole;
• contribute to, changes and approves the CCG‟s Constitution,
• ensure an effective Governing Body is in place and review their
performance annually;
• review and agree the CCG annual delivery plan;
• contribute to and agrees the commissioning intentions;
• hold an annual general meeting that is open to the public at which
the annual report and account are presented.
The three localities have also identified lead roles and these
representatives also sit on the Governing Body, representing the views of
member practices in each of the three localities.

Governing Body
The Governing Body is responsible for ensuring that the CCG has
appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions effectively,
efficiently and economically, and in accordance with the principles of good
governance. In DDES, the Governing Body is responsible for the CCG‟s
£418 million budget which is spent as efficiently as possible to provide high
quality healthcare for the local population.
Further details of the governance framework and organisational structure
operating within the CCG, including the role of the Governing Body and
related committees can be found in the Governance Statement.
The membership and attendance of the Governing Body is outlined in the
table below. The membership has changed since the CCG‟s formation on
the 1 April 2013 and this is also highlighted in the table. Details of the
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membership and attendance of all other committees held throughout the
year are also included:
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Governing Body and committee members 2014/15
Name

Title

Dr Stewart Findlay
Joseph Chandy

Chief Clinical Officer
Director of Primary Care,
Development and Engagement
Director of Nursing/Nurse
Advisor
Chief Operating Officer, North
Durham CCG
Chief Operating Officer, DDES
CCG (Interim from 1 March
2014 )
Chair of Governing Body
Head of Finance and
Performance; and Chief
Finance Officer (Interim) (with
effect from 1 March 2014)
Director of Commissioning
Lay Member – Governance
and Audit
Lay Member – Patient and
Public Engagement
Secondary Care Clinician (with

Gillian Findley
Nicola Bailey

Annie Dolphin
Mark Pickering

Sarah Burns
Keith Tallintire
David TaylorGooby
Ian Spencer

Governing
Body
Meetings:
9
6 (M)
8 (M)

Executive
Committee
Meetings:
27
21 (C)
20 (M)

Audit &
Assurance
Meetings:
4
0 (IA)

Executive
Committee
CQF&P
Meetings: 11
10 (C)
7 (M)

9 (M)

21 (M)

1 (IA)

7 (M)

7 (M)

20 (M)

1 (IA)

10 (M)

3 (IA)

21 (M)

2 (IA)
4 (M)

8 (M)

4 (C)
4 (IA)

9 (C)
8 (M)

6 (M)
7 (M)
9 (M)

24 (M)

Remuneration
Committee
Meetings:
4
3 (IA)

10 (M)
4 (C)

3 (M)

4 (M)

4 (M)

7 (M)
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Name

Dr Helen Moore
Dr Winny Jose
Dr Jonathan Smith

Anna Lynch

Key:
Member (M)

Title

effect from 1 March 2014)
Clinical Locality Lead,
Sedgefield
Clinical Locality Lead,
Sedgefield
Clinical Locality Lead,
Easington (with effect from 1st
July 2013) (M)
Director for Public Health,
Durham County Council (F)

Chair (C)

Governing
Body
Meetings:
9

Executive
Committee
Meetings:
27

Audit &
Assurance
Meetings:
4

Executive
Committee
CQF&P
Meetings: 11

1 M)

3 (IA)

3 (IA)

5 (M)

6(IA)

3 (IA)

7

IA4

5

Remuneration
Committee
Meetings:
4

3

In attendance (IA)

Governing Body meetings do not include development sessions.
Only one locality lead from each locality to attend each Governing Body meeting.
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NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG Governing Body members’
2014/15 declaration of interests

Name

Annie
Dolphin

Annie
Dolphin

Date

01/04/2
013

01/04/2
013

Position/Role

Lay Chair DDES
CCG

Lay Chair DDES
CCG

Govern
ing
Body





Executiv
e
Committ
ee

Audit
&
Assurance

Remun
eration
Commi
ttee





Locality
Mgt
Group

Potential or actual
areas where interest
could occur

Action taken to
mitigate risk

Panel member County Durham and
Darlington NHS
Health Improvement
Revenue Fund
administered by
County Durham
Community
Foundation

Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
not take part in
discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate

Performers list
decision panel chair
NHS England DDT
Area Team

Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
not take part in
discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
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Annie
Dolphin

14/08/2
012

Lay Chair DDES
CCG





Teesdale AAP forum
and board member

Annie
Dolphin

24/02/2
015

Lay Chair DDES
CCG





Member Pioneer
Care Partnership

Annie
Dolphin

11/06/2
013

Lay Chair DDES
CCG





NHS partner Board
Member - Teesdale
AAP

Keith
Tallintire

14/08/2
012
amende
d 1/4/13

Lay Member,
Governance and
Audit



Derwentside Homes
Ltd, Prince Bishops
Homes Ltd, Prince
Bishops Community





Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
not take part in
discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
not take part in
discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
not take part in
discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
not take part in
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Bank, Mid Durham
Area Action
Partnership, KT
Financial Services
Ltd, Social Housing
Enterprise Durham
Ltd and North
Durham Engineering
Forum







NHS partner Board
Member East
Durham (Easington)
AAP

Keith
Tallintire

11/06/2
013

Lay Member,
Governance and
Audit

David
TaylorGooby

14/08/2
012

Lay Member PPE







Freelance writer,
sometimes write on
NHS matters

David
TaylorGooby

11/06/2
013

Lay Member PPE







NHS partner
Weardale Action
Partnership

discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate

Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
not take part in
discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
Will not mention
matters which
could influence
DDES in his
writings
Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
not take part in
discussions or
decisions as
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agreed
appropriate

David
TaylorGooby

11/06/2
013

Lay Member PPE

Stewart
Findlay

28/11/2
011

Chief Clinical
Officer

Stewart
Findlay

28/11/2
011

Chief Clinical
Officer















Forum Member of
AAP – Easington



Link to
Website

GP Partner at
Bishopgate Medical
Centre/elected GP
lead for Durham
Dales



Link to
Website

NHS Clinical
Commissioners lead
for the North East

Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
not take part in
discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
Will declare
interest in specific
instances as
appropriate and
not participate in
discussion or
decision making.
Will declare
interest in specific
instances as
appropriate and
not participate in
discussion or
decision making
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Stewart
Findlay

28/11/2
011

Chief Clinical
Officer







Link to
Website

Stewart
Findlay

28/11/2
011

Chief Clinical
Officer







Link to
Website

Stewart
Findlay

28/11/2
011

Chief Clinical
Officer







Link to
Website

Bishopgate Medical
Centre also provide
occupational health
services for Cummins
Will declare
(Serco), Health Sure
interest in specific
(Serco), Health
instances as
Management,
appropriate and
Norwich Union,
not participate in
Sunlight Services,
discussion or
Healthcare
decision making
Connexions,
OCCHEA, Connought
Compliances, Nexus,
TMD Friction
Bishopgate provide
Will declare
Dr Bowron in his role interest in specific
as Medical Referee at
instances as
the Wear Valley
appropriate and
Crematorium at
not participate in
Coundon, Bishop
discussion or
Auckland
decision making
Will declare
Bishopgate also
interest in specific
provides a GP
instances as
Clinical Tutor and
appropriate and
Appraisal lead within
not participate in
the Durham Dales
discussion or
area (Dr Bowron)
decision making
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Stewart
Findlay

Link to
Website

Member of Durham
Dales Health
Federation



Link to
Website

Partner Shinwell
Medical Group





Link to
Website

Peterlee Health
Centre, Landlord
Representative





Link to
Website

Partner Wheatley Hill
& Thornley Practice

31/07/2
014

Chief Clinical
Officer





22/11/2
011

Director of
Primary Care
Development &
Engagement



Joseph
Chandy

22/11/2
011

Director of
Primary Care
Development &
Engagement

Joseph
Chandy

22/11/2
011

Director of
Primary Care
Development &
Engagement

Joseph
Chandy



Will not
participate in any
commissioning
decision that
awards funding to
a GP Federation
that I have an
interest in
Will declare
interest in specific
instances as
appropriate and
not participate in
discussion or
decision making
Not take part in
decisions around
capital funds
prioritisation or
premises process
approvals
Not take part in
decisions around
capital funds
prioritisation or
premises process
approvals
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04/02/2
013

Director of
Primary Care
Development &
Engagement





Link to
Website

Joseph
Chandy

22/11/2
011

Director of
Primary Care
Development &
Engagement





Link to
Website

Joseph
Chandy

12/02/2
013

Director of
Primary Care
Development &
Engagement





Link to
Website

Joseph
Chandy

16/04/2
013

Director of
Primary Care
Development &





Link to
Website

Joseph
Chandy

No involvement in
Senior partner at
any
Shinwell Medical
commissioning/n
Group is a provider of ew procurement
specialist care at
discussions
Barchester
regarding this
Hawthorns
decommissioned
contract
Related to the senior
partner, Shinwell
Joseph will not
Medical Group, the
participate in any
senior partners are
related
members of
procurement
Easington South
panels
Health Social
Enterprise
No part in
CCG discussion/
Trustee Dr Joseph
decision making
regarding any
Chandy Charitable
funding to the
Trust incorporating
voluntary sector
Roseby Road Well
that would
Being Centre
advantage this
charity
Will declare
Carodoc Practice,
interest in specific
Wingate, Partner
instances as
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Engagement

16/06/2
014

Director of
Primary Care
Development &
Engagement





Link to
Website

Joseph
Chandy

16/06/2
014

Director of
Primary Care
Development &
Engagement





Link to
Website

Joseph
Chandy

31/07/2
014

Director of
Primary Care
Development &
Engagement





Link to
Website

Joseph
Chandy

appropriate and
not participate in
discussion or
decision making
Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
Partner/Provider,
not take part in
Jupiter House
discussions or
Practice
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
Director, Wheatley
not take part in
Hill Property Co
discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
Will not
participate in any
commissioning
Member of Easington
decision that
& Sedgefield Health
awards funding to
Federation
a GP Federation
that I have an
interest in
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Helen
Moore

Helen
Moore

14/08/2
012

Clinical Locality
Lead,
Sedgefield
locality





Link to
Website

24/04/2
012

Clinical Locality
Lead,
Sedgefield
locality





Link to
Website

When provision
of services in
these particular
areas are being
discussed Helen
Chair, Sedgefield
will alert
Locality
everyone to her
Commissioning
involvement and
Group & GP, Ferryhill if necessary will
withdraw from the
discussions or
decision making
process on
procurement
When provision
of services in
these particular
areas are being
discussed Helen
will alert
GP with a Special
everyone to her
Interest in Vasectomy
involvement and
and Dermatology
if necessary will
withdraw from the
discussions or
decision making
process on
procurement
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Helen
Moore

09/04/2
013

Clinical Locality
Lead,
Sedgefield
locality

Helen
Moore

31/07/2
014

Clinical Locality
Lead,
Sedgefield
locality

09/04/2
013

Clinical Locality
Lead,
Sedgefield
locality

Helen
Moore









Link to
Website

GP with a special
interest in skin
surgery and
teledermatology



Link to
Website

Member of Easington
& Sedgefield Health
Federation



Link to
Website

GP at Ferryhill
Practice with interest
in all Primary Care

When provision
of services in
these particular
areas are being
discussed Helen
will alert
everyone to her
involvement and
if necessary will
withdraw from the
discussions or
decision making
process on
procurement
Will not
participate in any
commissioning
decision that
awards funding to
a GP Federation
that I have an
interest in
When provision
of services in
these particular
areas are being
discussed Helen
will alert
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John
Maguire

14/08/2
012

Sessional GP





John
Maguire

14/08/2
012

Sessional GP





everyone to her
involvement and
if necessary will
withdraw from the
discussions or
decision making
process on
procurement
When provision
of services in
these particular
areas are being
discussed John
Clinical lead for
will alert
urgent care clinical
everyone to his
governance and NHS
involvement and
111 employee of
if necessary will
NHSCDD
withdraw from the
discussions or
decision making
process on
procurement
When provision
Salaried GP in
of services in
Bishop Auckland
these particular
urgent care as an
areas are being
employee of CDDFT
discussed John
will alert
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Gillian
Findley

Gillian
Findley

Gillian
Findley

30/04/2
013

Director of
Nursing/Nurse
Advisor

30/04/2
013

Director of
Nursing/Nurse
Advisor

17/12/2
013

Director of
Nursing/Nurse
Advisor









School Governor for
South Stanley Junior
School



Company Secretary
for Magnitas Ltd.
Owned and run by Mr
I. Findley



Related through
marriage to the
McCardle Family
from McCardle Care
Homes

everyone to his
involvement and
if necessary will
withdraw from the
discussions or
decision making
process on
procurement
Will not take part
in any
discussions that
may affect the
school
Will declare an
interest in any
relevant
discussions.
Magnitas does
not offer health
related service
Will declare
interest when
appropriate and
withdraw from
discussion and
decision making.
No discussion of
related issues
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outside work

Gillian
Findley

04/04/2
014

Director of
Nursing/Nurse
Advisor





Mark
Pickering

30/11/2
011
updated
01/04/2
013

Chief Finance
Officer









Mark
Pickering

30/11/2
011
updated
01/04/2
013

Chief Finance
Officer









Has a shared role as
Will declare
Director of Nursing
interest in specific
with Darlington CCG
instances as
for a period of six
appropriate and
months, whilst
will not take part
remaining as Director
in any relevant
of Nursing for DDES
decisions
CCG
Wife employed as a
Will declare
director of Tees, Esk
interest in specific
and Wear Valleys
instances as
NHS Foundation
appropriate and
Trust who are both an
will not take part
existing and potential
in any relevant
future provider to the
decisions
CCG
Will declare
interest in specific
Foundation Trust
instances as
appropriate and
Member for CDDFT
NHS FT
will not take part
in any relevant
decisions

59

NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group Annual report 2014/15

Anna
Lynch

22/11/2
011
updated
17/04/1
3

Director of Public
Health County
Durham, Durham
County Council

Anna
Lynch

17/04/2
013

Director of Public
Health County
Durham, Durham
County Council

Anna
Lynch

17/04/2
013

Director of Public
Health County
Durham, Durham
County Council

Anna
Lynch

04/06/2
014

Director of Public
Health County
Durham, Durham
County Council



Chair of East Durham
Domestic Violence
Forum



DCC - Statutory Chief
Officer with delegated
duties in constitution



Non-voting member
of North Durham
CCG Governing Body



Chair of County
Durham & Darlington
NHS Health
Improvement Fund

Must not take part
in discussion
regarding any
funding issues
concerned with
organisations on
which DPH is
either chair,
trustee or
member Will
declare interest in
relation to
decisions
regarding joint
commissioning
with DCC
Will not take part
in Board
discussions that
involve decisions
regarding ND
CCG
Must not take part
in discussion
regarding any
funding issues
concerned with
organisations on
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Lesley
Jeavons

14/08/2
012

Durham County
Council



Lesley
Jeavons

11/06/2
013

Durham County
Council



Lesley
Jeavons

11/06/2
013

Durham County
Council



which DPH is
either chair,
trustee or
member
Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
Durham County
not take part in
Council
discussions or
Representative
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
Chair of Safeguarding
not take part in
Adults Board
discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
TEWV Council of
not take part in
Governors member
discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate

61

NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group Annual report 2014/15

Lesley
Jeavons

09/07/2
013

Durham County
Council



Winny
Jose

31/07/2
014

Clinical Locality
Lead,
Sedgefield
locality



Link to
Website

Winny
Jose

05/02/2
014

Clinical Locality
Lead,
Sedgefield
locality



Link to
Website

Winny
Jose

05/02/2
014

Clinical Locality
Lead,
Sedgefield
locality



Link to
Website

Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
Teesdale AAP Forum
not take part in
member
discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
Will not
participate in any
commissioning
Member of Easington
decision that
and Sedgefield
awards funding to
Health Federation
a GP Federation
that I have an
interest in
Will declare
interest in specific
ENT, ANP scheme, instances and will
Weekend opening
not take part in
hours, Seven day
discussions or
working
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
Will declare
GP at Jubilee Medical
interest in specific
Practice with interest
instances and will
in all Primary Care
not take part in
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discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate

Nicola
Bailey

Sarah
Burns

Jonathan
Smith

05/03/2
014

Chief Operating
Officer

13/03/2
014

Head of
Contracting &
Planning
(“Changed to
Director of
Commissioning”)

27/03/2
014

Clinical Locality
Lead, Easington
Locality















Link to
Website



Has a shared role of
acting Chief
Operating Officer for
Durham Dales,
Easington and
Sedgefield for a
period of six months,
whilst remaining as
Chief Operating
Officer in North
Durham CCG
Husband works for
Gentoo, DDES
supporting nonrecurrent bid

GP at Silverdale
Family Practice with
an interest in all
Primary Care

Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
not take part in
discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
not take part in
discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
not take part in
discussions or
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Jonathan
Smith

31/07/2
014

Clinical Locality
Lead, Easington
Locality





Link to
Website

Dilys
Waller

16/04/2
014

Clinical Locality
Lead, Durham
Dales





Link to
Website

Dilys
Waller

05/06/2
014

Clinical Locality
Lead, Durham
Dales





Link to
Website

Member of Easington
and Sedgefield
Health Federation

GP at Woodview
Surgery with an
interest in all Primary
Care

Chronic Obstructive
Pulmonary Disease
and Atrial Fibrillation
Lead

decisions as
agreed
appropriate
Will not
participate in any
commissioning
decision that
awards funding to
a GP Federation
that I have an
interest in
Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
not take part in
discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
not take part in
discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
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Dilys
Waller

31/07/2
014

Clinical Locality
Lead, Durham
Dales



Robin
Armstrong

05/06/2
014

Clinical Locality
Lead, Easington



Link to
Website

Robin
Armstrong

31/07/2
014

Clinical Locality
Lead, Easington



Link to
Website

Carol
Hardy

18/06/2
014

Clinical Locality
Lead (Deputy)



Link to
Website

Partner in member
practice of Dales
Federation

Member of Easington
and Sedgefield
Health Federation

Specialist Nurse for
Horden Group
Practice for Long
Term Conditions one

Will not
participate in any
commissioning
decision that
awards funding to
a GP Federation
that I have an
interest in
Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
not take part in
discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
Will not
participate in any
commissioning
decision that
awards funding to
a GP Federation
that I have an
interest in
Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
not take part in
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day a week and
Clinical Champion for
Intermediate care for
DDES

Nari
Pindolia

16/04/2
014

Clinical Locality
Lead, Durham
Dales

Nari
Pindolia

31/07/2
014

Clinical Locality
Lead, Durham
Dales



Link to
Website

GP at Station view
medical centre with
an interest in all
Primary Care



Link to
Website

Member of Dales
Federation

discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
Will declare
interest in specific
instances and will
not take part in
discussions or
decisions as
agreed
appropriate
Will not
participate in any
commissioning
decision that
awards funding to
a GP Federation
that I have an
interest in
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Governing Body member profiles
Dr Stewart Findlay, Chief Clinical Officer
Stewart has been a GP partner at Bishopgate Medical
Centre in Bishop Auckland since 1983. He has been
involved in commissioning healthcare services for the
local population for over 20 years. In addition to his
current role as Chief Clinical Officer, he is on the
leadership group of NHS Clinical Commissioners. He is
also Vice Chair of the County Durham Health and
Wellbeing Board and Chair of both our County Durham
and Darlington System Resilience Groups and the regional network of
Urgent Care leads. Stewart continues to work one day a week as a GP
partner in his practice.
Nicola Bailey, Chief Operating Officer
Nicola was the acting Chief Executive for Hartlepool
Borough Council and has previously held posts such
as Director of Child and Adult Services. Nicola began
her early career by training and working as a nurse in
the NHS before moving to working in integrated
services between the NHS and the Local Government
in Cheshire. With over 20 years of working in a
managerial and leadership capacity within Health and
Local Government, she has had extensive experience of managing and
leading organisations through change, developing integrated services and
solutions and working at a senior board level. Nicola now works as a
shared Chief Operating Officer between DDES CCG and North Durham
CCG.
Annie Dolphin (OBE), Lay Member Chair
Annie‟s main career, spanning 32 years, was in HM
Revenue & Customs (formerly Inland Revenue) where
she started out as a Tax Inspector and spent her final 15
years in various different senior management and director
roles at regional and national level. Following retirement
in 2006 she became a Non-Executive Director on the
County Durham (and later Darlington) PCT boards for
almost seven years until the PCTs were dissolved in
March 2013. As Lay Member Chair of the Governing Body (GB) her role is
to lead, build and develop the GB; ensure that the CCG has proper
constitutional and governance arrangements in place and that the CCG
behaves with the utmost transparency, probity and responsiveness at all
times. This also involves ensuring that the CCG engages effectively with
the public, patients and partners, that their views and experiences are
understood and taken into account; and that the CCG is able to account for
its actions.
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David Taylor-Gooby, Lay Member (Responsible for
Patient and Public Engagement)
Originally a senior lecturer at East Durham College,
David has also worked in public involvement in the
health sector and served as councillor in Easington.
He has published a book about the future of the NHS
and also writes columns for local newspapers. He has
written a weekly column for the Peterlee Star for the
past three years updating the public on NHS issues.
He is a member of the Weardale Action partnership. David was born in
Watford, Hertfordshire, but moved to the North East in 1969. He lives in
Peterlee with his wife Maureen. David was previously a member of the
Durham County Council Health Scrutiny Committee. He also chairs the
Apollo Pavilion Community Association. He feels the NHS faces
considerable challenges in the future, and Patient and Public Engagement
is crucial if it is to successfully meet them.
Keith Tallintire, Lay Member (responsible for
Governance and Audit)
Keith is Director of Resources at Derwentside Homes and
Chief Executive of its commercial arm – Prince Bishops
Homes. Keith has a finance background, qualifying as an
accountant in 1983. He held a number of senior
managerial and board positions in the manufacturing
sector before taking up his current post with Derwentside
Homes in 2006.
Keith is also a Board member of Prince Bishops Community Bank, the
North Durham Engineering Forum, Enterprise Durham Partnership Ltd, and
the Northern Apprentice Training Academy. He is an associate member of
the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants, Chartered Institute of
Housing, and Chartered Institute of Purchasing and Supply.
Joseph Chandy MBA MInstLM , Director of Primary
Care, Development and Engagement
Joseph joined the NHS in 1996 as a Practice Manager
in Easington. He led on GP fundholding within his
practice which developed his interest in
commissioning. He has also worked collaboratively in
his locality which led to working with GPs in developing
his local GP out-of-hours co-operative. He became the
Chair of Easington Practice Based Commissioning
Group from 2005 to 2012. During this time, he was also Director of Practice
Based Commissioning. Joseph has always maintained a portfolio career.
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He has advised on Commissioning, Estates, IM&T, Clinical and Patient
Engagement and Primary Care. He is also currently an Executive Partner in
three GP practices where his role is to provide clinical partners with
strategic support.
Sarah Burns, Director of Commissioning
Sarah has worked in the public sector for 18 years, with
the past 12 years in the NHS. During her time in the
NHS, Sarah has worked in a range of roles including
performance management, intelligence, contract
management and commissioning. Sarah lives in Durham
with her husband and two young sons.

Mark Pickering ACMA CGMA MA, Chief Finance
Officer
Mark is a qualified accountant, and an associate
member of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants. He has worked in finance and
performance for a variety of NHS and Local Government
organisations over a 25 year career, covering various
sectors including healthcare commissioning, acute
secondary care, mental health services and community
care. He has a Master‟s Degree in Applied Financial Management and lives
in Washington with his wife and son.

Dr Robin Armstrong, Locality Lead
Robin has been a partner in the Blackhall practice since
1992. He has spent much of the past 16 years (alongside
practice work) in non-clinical activity in Cancer and
palliative care in the locality as a Cancer lead and
Macmillan GP facilitator. He has been locality lead for
Easington for the past year.
Gillian Findley, Director of Nursing/Nurse Advisor
Gill has held various nursing posts in the community,
secondary and tertiary care settings. Recent posts
have included Associate Director of Nursing at
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation
Trust covering safeguarding, risk and clinical
governance, and a spell at the North East Leadership
Academy. Most recently she has been working in
North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation
Trust as A&E Business Manager. Gill trained as a Registered General
Nurse and Registered Sick Children‟s Nurse at Great Ormond Street
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hospital in London. Following a period of time as a research nurse at St.
James‟s hospital in Leeds, she moved to the North East and has lived here
for 20 years. Gill lives with her husband in Chester-le-Street and has two
daughters who are currently studying classics and medicine at Universities
in London and Leeds.
Lesley Jeavons, Head of Adult Services, Durham County Council
A nurse by profession, Lesley left the NHS and moved to Local
Government in 1994. She has worked in a variety of roles including
frontline services, staff development and project management. She took up
her current role which includes responsibility for care management,
safeguarding and in-house provision in 2007. She has significant
experience of managing large budgets and multi-agency partnerships, and
has a keen interest in leading change and service development.
Anna Lynch, Director of Public Health, County Durham
Anna has been the Director of Public Health for County Durham since
2006. From 1 April 2013, the role and related statutory functions
transferred to Durham County Council under the Health and Social Care
Act 2012 legislation. Anna has worked in County Durham since 1993 firstly
as Head of Health Promotion and then Director of Public Health for
Easington from 2002 to 2006. Prior to this, she worked in the NHS in
Teesside and Trafford, Greater Manchester and also in local authority in the
North West. Anna represents colleague Directors of Public Health as a
North East member of the Association of Directors of Public Health, is chair
of the North East Directors of Public Health Network and is a member of the
Health Equity North Steering Group.
Anna is committed to ensuring that the health inequalities agenda remains
a focus in the commissioning of healthcare services across County Durham
and leading the transformation of public health across the range of services
provided by Durham County Council.

Dr John McGuire, Sessional GP representative
John has been a doctor for 25 years working in a wide
range of settings including secondary and primary
care. He is currently a GP in urgent care. John graduated
from Glasgow University Medical School in 1988 and has
worked in a number of cities throughout England, settling
happily in County Durham 10 years ago. He has two
teenage children, a toddler and a baby and when he finds
the time enjoys running, reading and movies.”
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Remuneration Committee
Remuneration of members along with details of the Remuneration
Committee can be found in the Remuneration Report
Governing Body
Details of the membership and meetings of the Governing Body can be
found in the Governance Statement.

Disclosure of information to auditors
Additional supporting information
In the case of each of the persons who are members at the time the report
is approved:
- so far as the members are aware, there is no relevant audit information of
which the NHS body's auditor is unaware;
- members have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a
member in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the entity's auditor is aware of that
information.

Member practices
Durham Dales (12)

Sedgefield (11)

Easington (17)

Woodview Medical
Practice (Cockfield
Surgery)
Willington Medical
Group

Hallgarth Surgery

Blackhall & Peterlee
Practice

Bewick Crescent
Surgery

Phoenix Medical Group

Station View Medical
Centre

Ferryhill and Chilton
Medical Practice

North House Surgery

Spennymoor Health
Centre
Dr Jones & Partners

Drs Patel, Ulehien &
Mudalagiri
Murton Practice
The Carodoc Surgery

Auckland Medical
Group
Bishopgate Medical

Jubilee Medical Group

Horden Group Practice

Marlborough Practice
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Centre
The Weardale
Practice
Old Forge Surgery

Peaseway Medical
Centre
Oxford Road Surgery
(Dr D Roy)

Shinwell Medical Group
Jupiter House Surgery

Barnard Castle
Surgery

West Cornforth Surgery Deneside Medical
Centre (Dr Sahoo)

Pinfold Medical
Practice

Dr K S Baliga Shildon
Health Clinic

New Seaham Medical
Centre

Gainford Surgery

St Andrew's Medical
Practice

William Brown Centre
(Intrahealth)
Dr Ramakrishna Gupta
(Shotton Medical
Practice)
Southdene Medical
Centre
Silverdale Family
Practice
Wingate Medical
Centre (Intrahealth)
Dr Reddy (Deneside
Medical Centre)
Murton Practice

Evenwood Surgery

Dr Stewart Findlay
Accountable Officer
29 May 2015
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Remuneration report
The Remuneration Committee
The committee advises the Governing Body in relation to the pay, other
benefits and terms of employment for the Chief Clinical Officer and other
senior staff employed within the CCG. The committee is made up of the
following voting members:
• Annie Dolphin – chair and lay chair for the CCG.
• Keith Tallintire – vice chair and lay member for governance and
audit.
• David Taylor-Gooby – lay member for patient and public
involvement.
• other lay members as required.

Policy on remuneration of senior managers
The Remuneration Committee has delegated authority from the Governing
Body to make recommendations on the determination of pay and
remuneration for senior employees of the CCG and people who provide
services to the CCG.
The remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years
is determined in accordance with relevant guidance, best practice and
national policy.

Senior managers’ service contracts
Contracts of employment in relation to all senior managers employed by the
CCG are permanent in nature and subject to between three to six months‟
notice of termination by either party.
The exceptions to the above rule are the Lay Chair and Lay Member Patient and Public Involvement‟s appointments which expire in August
2015; the Secondary Care Clinician‟s term ends on 31 March 2017; and the
Lay Member - Governance and Audit‟s term ends in August 2015 although
the post holder will remain in post until a new appointment is made for a
new term.
Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to
satisfactory performance. Performance in post and progress in achieving
set objectives is reviewed annually. There were no individual performance
review payments made to any senior managers during the year and there
are no plans to make such payments in future years. This is in accordance
with standard NHS terms and conditions of service and guidance issued by
the Department of Health.
Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those
provided for within NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS
pension scheme regulations for those who are members of the scheme.
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There has been one payment made during 2014/15 arising from the
organisational structure changes arising from new ways of working within
the CCG. This payment was made to the former Chief Finance and
Operating Officer, and amounted to £210,000. This termination payment
was limited to the contractual requirements set out within the NHS terms
and conditions.
For the purpose of this remuneration report, the definition of „senior
managers‟ is as per the CCG annual reporting guidance published by NHS
England, and the Chief Clinical Officer has determined that the members of
the Governing Body are the senior managers within the organisation. For
the avoidance of doubt, the definition of senior managers is shown below:
„Those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for
directing or controlling the major activities of the CCG. This means those
who influence the decisions of the entity as a whole rather than the
decisions of individual directorates or departments. Such persons will
include advisory and lay members.‟

Salaries and allowances
The table below shows the salaries and allowances of „senior managers‟
within the CCG.

74

NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group Annual report 2014/15

CCG senior managers’ salaries and allowances 2014/15

tal
nds of £5000

Dr Stewart
Findlay

Chief Clinical Officer

160–
165,000

-

-

-

12,500 –
15,000

170 –
175,000

Nicola
Bailey

Chief Operating Officer (shared
salary at 50% with NHS North
Durham CCG)

70 –
75,000

4,0
00

-

-

-

75 –
80,000

xable benefits
unded to nearest £100

Title

lary and fees
nds of £5000

Name

pension related benefits
nds of £2500 *

ng-term performance related
nuses
nds of £5000

nual performance related
nuses
nds of £5000

• Important Note regarding Pension Related Benefits stated in the table below:
Please note the amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement expected over twenty years. This value has
been determined in accordance with the HMRC method of calculation, in accordance with guidance from NHS England.
Employee pension contributions made in 2014/15 have been deducted from the total. Pension related benefits shown in the table
below relate to the NHS pension scheme members only. The figure shown is not intended to reflect annual remuneration
received by the individual during the financial year.
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tal
nds of £5000

pension related benefits
nds of £2500 *

ng-term performance related
nuses
nds of £5000

nual performance related
nuses
nds of £5000

xable benefits
unded to nearest £100

lary and fees
nds of £5000
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Name

Title

Joseph
Chandy

Director of Primary Care,
Development and Engagement

90 –
95,000

-

-

-

-

90 –
95,000

Gillian
Findley

Director of Nursing/Nurse
Advisor (shared salary at 50%
with NHS Darlington CCG)

40 45,000

-

-

-

30,00032,500

70 –
75,000

Mark
Pickering

Chief Finance Officer

70 –
75,000

2,2
00

-

-

62,500 –
65,000

135 –
140,000

Dr Helen
Moore

Clinical Locality Lead –
Sedgefield

30-35,000

-

-

-

85,000 –
87,500

115 –
120,000

Vicky
Watson

Clinical Locality Lead – Durham
Dales (until May 2015)

0 – 5,000

-

-

-

-

0 – 5,000
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tal
nds of £5000

Keith
Tallintire

pension related benefits
nds of £2500 *

Chair of Governing Body

ng-term performance related
nuses
nds of £5000

Annie
Dolphin

nual performance related
nuses
nds of £5000

Title

xable benefits
unded to nearest £100

Name

lary and fees
nds of £5000
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15 –
20,000

-

-

-

-

15 –
20,000

Lay Member – Governance and
Audit

5 – 10,000

-

-

-

-

5 – 10,000

David
TaylorGooby

Lay Member – Patient and
Public Engagement

5 – 10,000

-

-

-

-

5 – 10,000

Dr John
McGuire

Sessional GP (until 30
November 2014)

5 – 10,000

-

-

-

-

5 – 10,000

Dr Ian
Spencer

Secondary Care Clinician

10 –
15,000

-

-

-

-

10 –
15,000
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tal
nds of £5000

Anna
Lynch

Director of Public Health –
Durham County Council

–

-

-

-

-

–

Lesley
Jeavons

Head of Adult Services –
Durham County Council

–

-

-

-

-

–

Dr
Jonathan
Smith

Clinical Locality Lead Easington

35 –
40,000

-

-

-

-

35 –
40,000

Sarah
Burns

Director of Commissioning (from
1 July 2014)

50 –
55,000

-

-

-

82,500 –
85,000

135 –
140,000

Dr Winny
Jose

Clinical Locality Lead –
Sedgefield (from 1 May 2014)

25 –
30,000

-

-

-

112,500 –
115,000

140 –
145,000

xable benefits
unded to nearest £100

Title

lary and fees
nds of £5000

Name

pension related benefits
nds of £2500 *

ng-term performance related
nuses
nds of £5000

nual performance related
nuses
nds of £5000
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tal
nds of £5000

Dr
Narendra
Pindolia

Clinical Locality Lead – Durham
Dales (from 1 May 2014)

20 –
25,000

-

-

-

47,500 –
50,000

70 –
75,000

Dr Dilys
Waller

Clinical Locality Lead – Durham
Dales (from 1 May 2014)

25 –
30,000

-

-

-

142,500 –
145,000

165 –
170,000

Carol
Hardy

Clinical Locality Lead –
Easington

10 –
15,000

-

-

-

-

10 15,000

Dr Robin
Armstrong

Locality Lead – Easington (from
1st May 2014)

15 –
20,000

-

-

-

195,000 –
197,500

210 –
215,000

xable benefits
unded to nearest £100

Title

lary and fees
nds of £5000

Name

pension related benefits
nds of £2500 *

ng-term performance related
nuses
nds of £5000

nual performance related
nuses
nds of £5000
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CCG senior managers’ salaries and allowances – Comparator Figures for 2013/14
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tal
nds of £5000

-

-

272,500–
275,000

435–
440,000

Chief Operating Officer (shared
salary at 50% with North
Durham CCG) (from 1 March
2014)

–

–

–

–

–

–

Chief Finance and Operating
Officer (until 28 February 2014)

105–
110,000

5,6
00

-

-

180–
182,500

295–
300,000

Dr Stewart
Findlay

Chief Clinical Officer

Nicola
Bailey

Mike Taylor

ng-term performance
ated bonuses
nds of £5000

-

Title

xable benefits
unded to nearest £100

160–
165,000

Name

lary and fees
nds of £5000

pension related benefits
nds of £2500 (see
portant note above)*

nual performance related
nuses
nds of £5000

• Important Note regarding All Pension Related Benefits stated in the table below:
Please note the amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement expected over 20 years. This value has
been determined in accordance with the HMRC method of calculation, in accordance with guidance from NHS England.
Employee pension contributions made in 2014/15 have been deducted from the total. Pension related benefits shown in the table
below relate to the NHS pension scheme members only. The figure shown is not intended to reflect annual remuneration
received by the individual during the financial year.
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tal
nds of £5000

pension related benefits
nds of £2500 (see
portant note above)*

ng-term performance
ated bonuses
nds of £5000

nual performance related
nuses
nds of £5000

xable benefits
unded to nearest £100

lary and fees
nds of £5000
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Name

Title

Joseph
Chandy

Director of Primary Care,
Development and Engagement

85–90,000

-

-

-

-

85–90,000

Gillian
Findley

Director of Nursing/Nurse
Advisor

75–80,000

-

-

-

110–
112,500

185–
190,000

Mark
Pickering

Chief Finance Officer (interim)
(from 1 March 2014)

5–10,000

100

-

-

42,500–
45,000

45–50,000

Dr Helen
Moore

Clinical Locality Lead –
Sedgefield (from 1 July 2013)

30–35,000

-

-

-

87,500–
90,000

115–
120,000

Vicky
Watson

Clinical Locality Lead – Durham
Dales (from 1 November 2014)

15–20,000

-

-

-

-

15–20,000

Annie
Dolphin

Chair of Governing Body

15–20,000

-

-

-

-

15–20,000
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tal
nds of £5000

pension related benefits
nds of £2500 (see
portant note above)*

ng-term performance
ated bonuses
nds of £5000

nual performance related
nuses
nds of £5000

xable benefits
unded to nearest £100

lary and fees
nds of £5000
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Name

Title

Keith
Tallintire

Lay Member - Governance and
Audit

5–10,000

-

-

-

-

5–10,000

David
TaylorGooby

Lay Member - Patient and
Public Engagement

5–10,000

-

-

-

-

5–10,000

Dr John
McGuire

Sessional GP

10–15,000

-

-

-

-

10–15,000

Dr Ian
Spencer

Secondary Care Clinician (from
1 March 2014)

0–5,000

-

-

-

-

0–5,000

Anna
Lynch

Director of Public Health –
Durham County Council

–

-

-

-

-

–

Lesley
Jeavons

Head of Adult Services –
Durham County Council

–

-

-

-

-

–
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tal
nds of £5000

pension related benefits
nds of £2500 (see
portant note above)*

ng-term performance
ated bonuses
nds of £5000

nual performance related
nuses
nds of £5000

xable benefits
unded to nearest £100

lary and fees
nds of £5000
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Name

Title

Dr
Jonathan
Smith

Clinical Locality Lead –
Easington (from 1 February
2014)

0–5,000

-

-

-

-

0–5,000

Dr Stephen
Muscat

Clinical Locality Lead –
Easington (until 31 January
2014)

10–15,000

-

-

-

-

10–15,000

Dr Dinah
Roy

Director of Clinical Quality and
Performance (until 23 January
2014)

75–80,000

-

-

-

185–
187,500

265–
270,000

Dr Satinder
Sanghera

Clinical Locality Lead – Durham
Dales (until 31 October 2013)

30–35,000

-

-

-

-

30–35,000

Peter Carr

Secondary Care Clinician (until
28 February 2014)

5–10,000

-

-

-

-

5–10,000
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Note the amount included here is the annual increase in pension entitlement expected over 20 vears. This value has been determined in accordance with the HMRC
method of calculation, in accordance with guidance from NHS England. Employee pension contributions made in 2013114 have been deducted from the total. Pension related
benefits shown in the table above relate to the NHS pension scheme members only.
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Notes
Prior year comparatives for 2013/14 are as shown in the above table.
The taxable benefits included in the tables for both financial years relate to lease car benefits.
No performance related benefits have been agreed for any senior officers.
The following senior officers are not employed by the CCG and receive no remuneration from the CCG for their role as Governing
Body members:
•

Anna Lynch, Director of Public Health, Durham County Council

•

Lesley Jeavons, Head of Adult Services, Durham County Council

Pay multiples disclosure
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director/member in their
organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation‟s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG in the
financial year 2014/15 was £160-£165,000 (2013/14, £160-£165,000). This was 4.1 times (2013/14, 4.1) the median remuneration
of the workforce, which was £39,239 (2013/14, £39,239). In 2014-15, nil (2013/14, nil) employees received remuneration in excess
of the highest-paid director/member.
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It
does not include employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.
There has been no change to the most highly paid individual since last year, and there has been no pay increase for senior
managers outside of national agenda for change payscales.
The average number of employees in the CCG over the year has increased slightly to 37 (35 in 2013/14).
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Band of highest paid
director’s total
remuneration

Median total
remuneration

Ratio

£160–165,000

£39,239

4.1

Off-payroll engagements disclosure
There has been one off-payroll engagement as of 31 March 2015, for more than £220 per day and that lasted longer than six
months. This is as follows:
Dr Nari Pindolia – joint locality lead – Durham Dales locality. The payments have been paid to Dr Pindolia‟s GP practice, and
taxation and pension requirements are accounted for by that practice. These payments were made in respect of an interim period
in the role for the period of May 2014 until December 2014. Since January 2015, Dr Pindolia has been included on the payroll of
the CCG.

Payments for loss of office
There has been one payment for loss of office made during 2014/15 financial year. This was a payment to the former Chief
Finance and Operating Officer. The termination payment made was limited to the defined contractual rights as per NHS England
guidance and amounted to £210,000. The post holder left the organisation on 4 October 2014.
The total payment was in accordance with the post holder‟s contractual rights based upon length of service, and there were no
additional discretionary payments made to the individual.
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Pension benefits disclosure

Name and title

Employer‟s
contributions to
stakeholder pension

Real increase in
cash equivalent
transfer value

Cash equivalent
transfer value at 31
March 2015

0
0
0
5
£

Cash equivalent
transfer value at 1
April 2014

Real increase/
reduction in pension
at age 60
Bands of £2,500
Real
increase/reduction in
pension lump sum at
age 60
Bands of £2,500
Total accrued
pension at age 60 at
31 March 2015
Bands of £5,000
Lump sum at age 60
related to accrued
pension at 31 March
2014 Bands of

The table below shows the pensionable benefits of „senior managers‟ within the CCG for 2014/15 financial year. In addition, a table
is included for prior year comparator figures for 2013/14 financial year.

Dr Stewart Findlay
Chief Clinical Officer

0–
2,500

2,500 –
5,000

15 –
20,000

45 –
50,000

322,000

369,000

48,000

-

Gillian Findley
Director of Nursing/Nurse
Advisor

0–
2,500

0–
2,500

30–
35,000

60–
65,000

379,000

414,000

34,000

-

Nicola Bailey
Chief Operating Officer

0–
2,500

0–
2,500

80 –
85,000

0–
5,000

930,000

959,000

29,000

-

Dr Helen Moore
Clinical Locality Lead –
Sedgefield

2,500–
5,000

10,000–
12,500

20–
25,000

65–
70,000

329,000

415,000

86,000

-

87

Name and title

Employer‟s
contributions to
stakeholder pension

Real increase in
cash equivalent
transfer value

Cash equivalent
transfer value at 31
March 2015

0
0
0
5
£

Cash equivalent
transfer value at 1
April 2014

Real increase/
reduction in pension
at age 60
Bands of £2,500
Real
increase/reduction in
pension lump sum at
age 60
Bands of £2,500
Total accrued
pension at age 60 at
31 March 2015
Bands of £5,000
Lump sum at age 60
related to accrued
pension at 31 March
2014 Bands of
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Dr Robin Armstrong
Clinical Locality Lead –
Easington

7,500
–
10,000

22,500
–
25,000

5–
10,000

25 –
30,000

0

161,000

148,000

-

Dr Winny Jose
Clinical Locality Lead –
Sedgefield

2,500
–
5,000

12,500
–
15,000

5–
10,000

20 –
25,000

25,000

92,000

61,000

-

Dr Narendra Pindolia
Clinical Locality Lead –
Durham Dales

0–
2,500

0–
2,500

5–
10,000

20 –
25,000

108,000

148,000

10,000

-

Dr Dilys Waller
Clinical Locality Lead –
Durham Dales

5–
7,500

15 –
20,000

5–
10,000

25 –
30,000

62,000

187,000

115,000

-

Dr Jonathan Smith
Clinical Locality Lead –
Easington

0–
2,500

0–
2,500

5–
10,000

25 –
30,000

107,000

112,000

6,000

-
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Real increase/
reduction in pension
at age 60
Bands of £2,500
Real
increase/reduction in
pension lump sum at
age 60
Bands of £2,500
Total accrued
pension at age 60 at
31 March 2015
Bands of £5,000
Lump sum at age 60
related to accrued
pension at 31 March
2014 Bands of

Name and title
0
0
0
5
£
Employer‟s
contributions to
stakeholder pension

Real increase in
cash equivalent
transfer value

Cash equivalent
transfer value at 31
March 2015

Cash equivalent
transfer value at 1
April 2014
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Sarah Burns
Director of Commissioning
2,500
–
5,000
10,000
–
12,500
10,000
–
15,000
30 –
35,000
82,000
138,000
56,000
-

Mark Pickering
Chief Finance Officer
2,500
–
5,000
7,500 –
10,000
20 –
25,000
65 –
70,000
285,000
341,000
56,000
-
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Employer‟s
contributions to
stakeholder pension

Real increase in
cash equivalent
transfer value

Cash equivalent
transfer value at 31
March 2014

Cash equivalent
transfer value at 31
March 2013

Real increase/
reduction in pension
at age 60
Bands of £2500
Real
increase/reduction in
pension lump sum at
age 60
Bands of £2500
Total accrued
pension at age 60 at
31 March 2014
Bands of £5000
Lump sum at age 60
related to accrued
pension at 31 March
2014 Bands of
£5000

CCG senior managers’ pension benefits 2013/14 (prior year comparator figures)

Name and title
Dr Stewart Findlay
Chief Clinical Officer

12,500
–
15,000

37,500
–
40,000

10–
15,000

40–
45,000

21,000

313,00
0

293,00
0

-

Mike Taylor
Chief Finance and
Operating Officer (until 28
February 2014)

7,500–
10,000

25,000
–
27,500

35–
40,000

115–
120,00
0

640,00
0

852,00
0

212,00
0

-

Gillian Findley
Director of Nursing/Nurse
Advisor

5,000–
7,500

7,500–
10,000

25–
30,000

55–
60,000

367,00
0

369,00
0

2,000

-

Dinah Roy
Director of Clinical Quality
and Performance (until 23
January 2014)

7,500–
10,000

25,000
–
27,500

15–
20,000

45–
50,000

126,00
0

296,00
0

170,00
0

-
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Employer‟s
contributions to
stakeholder pension

Real increase in
cash equivalent
transfer value

Cash equivalent
transfer value at 31
March 2014

Cash equivalent
transfer value at 31
March 2013

Real increase/
reduction in pension
at age 60
Bands of £2500
Real
increase/reduction in
pension lump sum at
age 60
Bands of £2500
Total accrued
pension at age 60 at
31 March 2014
Bands of £5000
Lump sum at age 60
related to accrued
pension at 31 March
2014 Bands of
£5000
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Name and title

Helen Moore
Clinical Locality Lead –
Sedgefield
2,500–
5,000
10,000
–
12,500
15–
20,000
50–
55,000
240,00
0
321,00
0
81,000
-

Mark Pickering
Chief Finance Officer
(interim) (from 1 March
2014)
0–
2,500
5,000–
7,500
15–
20,000
55–
60,000
238,00
0
277,00
0
39,000
-

Pension benefits in the table above are disclosed for members of the NHS pension scheme only.
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Cash equivalent transfer values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed
capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a
particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member‟s accrued
benefits and any contingent spouse‟s (or other allowable beneficiary‟s)
pension payable from the scheme. CETVs are calculated in accordance
with the Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) Regulations
2008.
Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It
takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation,
contributions paid by the employee, (including the value of any benefits
transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common
market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.

Dr Stewart Findlay
Accountable Officer
29 May 2015

Statement by the Accountable
Officer
As we come to the end of our second successful year as a CCG, I would
like to highlight some of our work to date.
We have not only exceeded the required financial surplus we were asked to
deliver, but have worked closely with our partners in Durham County
Council, Acute and Mental Health hospitals, Primary Care and our
Ambulance Service to drive up the quality of care they deliver to our
population. We have made good progress but of course there is still much
work to do.
We implemented a new way of working at the beginning of this year which
completely restructured the management of the CCG to make us more
efficient. We also increased the clinical leadership of the organisation by
developing our six locality GP leads and clinical champions in our priority
areas such as Diabetes, Cardiovascular Disease, Urgent Care,
Dermatology, End of Life, Learning Disabilities, Primary Care and
Dermatology. We have employed a medical advisor as a new director and a
shared Chief Operating Officer across DDES CCG and North Durham
CCG.
We are one of only three CCGs in the North East to have been approved to
take on fully devolved responsibility for commissioning Primary Care, and
we have supported and developed our three Primary Care Federations
across DDES.
We are now very well placed to deliver the five-year forward vision for the
NHS.
No significant internal control issues have been identified.

Dr Stewart Findlay
Accountable Officer
29 May 2015
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Governance Statement
Governance statement by Stewart Findlay as Accountable Officer of
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG

1. Introduction and Context
1.1 The clinical commissioning group (CCG) was licenced from 1 April 2013
under provisions enacted in the Health and Social Care Act 2012, which
amended the NHS Act 2006.

1.2 The CCG operated in shadow form prior to 1 April 2013, to allow for the
completion of the licencing process and the establishment of function,
systems and processes prior to the CCG taking on its full powers. As at 1
April 2013, the CCG was licensed without conditions.
2. Scope of responsibility
2.1 As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound
system of internal control that supports the achievement of the CCG‟s
policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and
departmental assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance
with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing public money. I am
also responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and
economically, and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I
also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my CCG Accountable
Officer appointment letter.

3. Compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code
3.1 Whilst the detailed provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code
are not mandatory for public sector bodies, compliance is considered to be
good practice. This Governance Statement is intended to demonstrate how
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the CCG had regard to the principles set out in the code appropriate for
CCGs for the financial year ended March 2015.

4. The CCG Governance Framework
4.1 The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph
14L(2) (b) states:
„The main function of the Governing Body is to ensure that the group has
made appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such
generally accepted principles of good governance as are relevant to it.‟

4.2 The CCG has a Constitution based on the Department of Health‟s
Model Template that has been amended and approved to take into account
subsequent guidance. Review of the CCG‟s Constitution confirms that it
complies with the elements of the self-certification checklist, including:
•

specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of
its functions;

•

specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of
the functions of the Governing Body;

• the procedures to be followed by the CCG in making decisions;
•

the arrangements it has made to secure that individuals to whom
health services are being, or may be, provided pursuant to its
commissioning arrangements are involved;

•

arrangements made by the CCG for discharging its duties in respect
of registers of interests and management of conflicts of interests;

• arrangements made by the CCG for ensuring that there is
transparency about the decisions of the group and the manner in
which they are made.
4.3 During the year 2014/15, the CCG Governing Body met on nine
occasions both in private and in public for which there was an annual cycle
of business. Agendas are structured to deal with strategic, performance,
quality assurance, risk and governance issues. The arrangements meet the
requirements of best practice guidance in respect of risk management and
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ensure that a strong accountability framework has been established. They
reflect the public service values of accountability, probity and openness and
specify as Accountable Officer my responsibility for ensuring that these
values are met within the CCG. The members‟ report section of the annual
report outlines the detail relating to the membership practices and
Governing Body and their committee and sub-committees and meetings
attendance record.
4.4 The CCG has continued to operate with a committee structure which
reflects guidance and best practice, including Governing Body; Executive
Committee; Audit and Assurance Committee; Commissioning, Quality,
Finance and Performance; and Remuneration Committee. Terms of
reference have been agreed for these committees that support the
organisation in the delivery of effective governance. The organisational
structure including key committees is set out below.

4.5 Description of the established Governing Body Committees
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4.5.1 The roles of each of the Governing Body committees are set out
broadly below. The Governing Body committees have authority under the
Scheme of Delegation to establish sub committees or sub groups to enable
them to fulfill their role. Each of the Governing Body Committees has
detailed Terms of Reference. Each committee is authorised by the
Governing Body to pursue any activity within their terms of reference and
within the scheme of reservation and delegation.

4.5.2 Executive Committee
The Executive Committee, which is accountable to the group‟s Governing
Body, meets three times per month to manage operational issues and
provide executive support for the Governing Body. The Governing Body
has approved and keeps under review the terms of reference for the
Executive Committee, which includes information on the membership of the
Executive Committee. In addition, the group or the Governing Body has
conferred or delegated the operational management of the following
functions, connected with the Governing Body‟s main function, to its
Executive Committee:
•

Planning.

•

Strategy.

•

Financial management.

•

Risk management.

•

Quality.

•

Clinical governance.

•

Performance.

4.5.3 Audit and Assurance Committee
In line with the requirements of the NHS audit committee handbook and
NHS codes of conduct and accountability, the committee provides the CCG
with an independent and objective review of systems of internal control, risk
and governance processes and arrangements, and compliance with laws,
guidance, and regulations governing the NHS. The committee is a nonexecutive committee of the Governing Body and has no executive powers.
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The Audit and Assurance Committee, which is accountable to the group‟s
Governing Body, provides the Governing Body with assurance on the
effective, efficient and economic operation of the CCG‟s financial systems,
financial information and compliance with laws, regulations and directions
governing the group in so far as they relate to finance. The committee will
report annually to the Governing Body. The Governing Body has approved
and keeps under review the terms of reference for the Audit and Assurance
Committee, which includes information on the membership of the Audit and
Assurance Committee.
The Audit and Assurance Committee, as part of its terms of reference,
provides an annual report of its work to the Governing Body. A report to
cover the first year of the committee was provided to the Governing Body in
July 2014, and a report covering the financial year 2014/15 will be available
early in 2015/16. The principal purpose of the report is to give the
Governing Body an assurance as to the work carried out to support the
accountable officer‟s review of the internal control arrangements. The
committee‟s cycle of business enables the audit committee to carry out its
key objectives necessary to support its assurances regarding the
effectiveness of the organisation‟s internal controls.

Details of membership of the committee are contained within the members‟
report section of this annual report.

The Audit and Assurance Committee met four times during the financial
year 2014/15, and highlights from the first year‟s work include agreeing
strategic work programmes for internal and external audit and the counter
fraud service; reviewing the enhancements made to the risk and assurance
frameworks for the CCG to provide assurance to the Governing Body;
receiving updates from internal and external auditors in respect of key
systems and processes; and received updates on the financial position of
the CCG. In addition, the Audit and Assurance Committee has had a key
role in the review of the CCG‟s preparation for co-commissioning of primary
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care in 2015/16. The confirmed minutes from the committee are shared
with the Governing Body of the CCG.

4.5.4 Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee, which is accountable to the group‟s
Governing Body, makes recommendations to the Governing Body on
determinations about the remuneration, fees and other allowances for
employees and for people who provide services to the group, and on
determinations about allowances under any pension scheme that the group
may establish as an alternative to the NHS pension scheme. The
Governing Body has approved and keeps under review the terms of
reference for the Remuneration Committee, which includes information on
the membership of the Remuneration Committee.

Details of membership of the committee are contained within the members‟
report section of this annual report.

The Remuneration Committee met four times during the financial year
2014/15, and highlights from the first year‟s work include agreeing payment
levels for clinical support into pathway development and expenses
reimbursement for volunteers. The committee has not yet formally carried
out a self-assessment of performance for this financial year.

4.5.5 Joint committees
The CCG has not entered into any formal joint committees with other CCGs
or any other organisations. Collaborative working arrangements have been
developed with a number of other CCGs, including joint arrangements with
the CCGs in the North of England to determine commissioning for health
gain policies and to review and approve individual funding requests,
including conducting an appeals process. These joint working
arrangements do not represent formal joint committees and the CCG
retains responsibility for making any relevant decisions in line with the
scheme of reservation and delegation.
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4.6 Review and assessment of board effectiveness and assessment of
compliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code (2012)
4.6.1 In reviewing and assessing the effectiveness of the Governing Body,
the guidance contained within The UK Corporate Code of Governance
(2012) has been further developed into a Governing Body “selfassessment” questionnaire. The guidance contained within the code has
enabled a detailed review of Governing Body effectiveness against the
following criteria – leadership, effectiveness, accountability, remuneration
and relations with stakeholders on a „comply or explain‟ basis. This selfassessment was supported by a dedicated session for the Governing Body
to review Governing Body compliance with the code. In particular, having
reviewed the effectiveness of the CCG‟s governance framework and
arrangements in relation to The UK Corporate Code of Governance, I
consider that the organisation complies with the principles and standards of
best practice contained within the guidance on a „comply or explain‟ basis.

5. The CCG Risk Management Framework
5.1 A Risk Management policy is in place which takes into account current
guidance on risk management best practice and incorporates guidance
provided by ISO 31000:2009 (formerly AZ/NZ Standard 4360:2004) and the
former National Patient safety Agency in its approach to assessing risk.
5.2 The Risk Management policy sets out the CCG‟s approach to the
assessment and management of clinical and non-clinical risk in fulfilment of
our overall objective to commission high quality and safe services. This
includes the processes and procedures adopted by the CCG to identify,
assess and appropriately manage risks and the detailed roles and
responsibilities for risk management. It provides guidance for the
systematic and effective management of risk. Key elements of the Risk
Management policy include:
•

a clear statement of Governing Body and individual accountability for
delivery of the strategy;
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•

clear principles, aims and objectives of the risk management
process;

•

a clearly defined process for delivering the framework including an
implementation plan to ensure that the framework and risk
management awareness is communicated to all staff;

• details of the approach to be undertaken to assess and report risk;
•

an agreed process for reporting, managing, analysing and learning
from adverse events supported by a “fair blame” culture and
approach;

• confirmation of the arrangements for reporting risk through the risk
register.

5.3 Our comprehensive approach to risk management employs best
practice in compliance with accepted standards. It is consistent with NHS
England‟s risk management strategy and risk management policy and
procedure issued in July 2013. It takes into account current guidance on
risk management best practice and incorporates guidance provided by ISO
31000:2009 (formerly AZ/NZ Standard 4360:2004) and the former National
Patient Safety Agency in its approach to assessing risk.

5.4 Our risk management framework is the systematic application of
management policies, procedures and practices to the tasks of identifying,
monitoring, mitigating and managing risk. All CCG risks are recorded and
managed in the electronic Safeguard Incident Risk Management System
(SIRMS). North of England Commissioning Support Unit provides our risk
reporting and management via SIRMS. Additionally, the CCG assurance
framework enables the Executive Committee, Audit and Assurance
Committee, and the Governing Body to ensure effective arrangements are
in place for the management of risks to principal strategic objectives and for
the sound governance of the organisation.

Our approach to risk management ensures:
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•

risk management is a cohesive element of the internal control
systems within the corporate governance framework supported by
robust risk management systems and processes,

•

the organisation meets statutory obligations including those relating
to health and safety and data protection,

•

all stakeholders, staff and partner organisations are assured that the
CCG is committed to managing risk appropriately,

•

staff can access support and risk management training and
development is provided across the organisation by the NECS
governance team,

•

updates and guidance reviews are communicated to all staff.

5.5 Our Counter Fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the
organisation‟s financial viability and probity. An annual Counter Fraud Plan
is agreed by the Audit and Assurance Committee which focuses on the
deterrence, prevention, detection and investigation of fraud.

Counter-fraud requirements and regulations have been specifically
discussed with both the Governing Body and wider CCG employees during
the year to cement their knowledge and understanding of counter-fraud
arrangements, with all employees also required to complete e-learning
training. In addition, notifications and briefings regarding actual and
potential fraud are circulated to key staff to ensure counter-fraud vigilance
is maintained and enable payment systems to be reviewed for emerging
risks.

6. The CCG Internal Control Framework
6.1 A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in
place in the CCG to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is
designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of
those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to
manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of
internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
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eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal control has
been in place in the CCG for the year ended 31 March 2015 and up to the
date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts.

6.2 Information Governance
6.2.1 The CCG has an Information Governance Framework in place
comprising an approved strategy, a suite of approved policies and
procedures, a programme of mandatory training, information risk
management, incident management and has also adopted and
implemented the Health and Social Care Information Centre‟s (HSCIC)
„Checklist for Reporting, Managing and Investigating Information
Governance Serious Incidents Requiring Investigation‟.

6.2.2 The organisation has in place a standard operating procedure for the
reporting of level 2 Information Governance incidents to the Information
Commissioner. This procedure outlines the scope of responsibilities and
details the reporting procedures to be used in the event of a data security
breach. There have been no Information Governance serious breaches
during 2014/15.
6.2.3 The Information Governance agenda is heard at the Executive
Committee which also oversees the day-to-day management of IG systems
and processes. The CCG has also appointed a Caldicott Guardian (Dr.
James Carlton) and Senior Information Risk Owner (Nicola Bailey).
6.2.4 The Information Governance Toolkit has been provided by the HSCIC
to support performance monitoring of progress on Information Governance
in the NHS. The CCG has published the HSCIC Information Governance
Toolkit Version 12 and has self-assessed as being satisfactory.

6.2.5 The CCG complies with its statutory duty to respond to requests for
information. During the year, the CCG received 243 requests under the
Freedom of Information Act 2000 and 0 requests under the Data Protection
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Act 1998. All the requests were responded to within the statutory
timescales.

6.3 Pension Obligations
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension
Scheme, control measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations
contained within the scheme regulations are complied with. This includes
ensuring that deductions from salary, employer‟s contributions and
payments into the scheme are in accordance with the scheme rules, and
that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in
accordance with the timescales detailed in the regulations.

6.4. Equality, Diversity and Human Rights
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the CCG‟s obligations
under equality, diversity and human rights legislation are complied with.

6.5. Sustainable Development Obligations
6.5.1 The CCG is required to report its progress in delivering against
sustainable development indicators. We are developing plans to assess
risks, enhance our performance and reduce our impact, including against
carbon reduction and climate change adaptation objectives. This includes
establishing mechanisms to embed social and environmental sustainability
across policy development, business planning and in commissioning.

6.5.2 We will ensure the CCG complies with its obligations under the
Climate Change Act 2008, including the Adaptation Reporting power, and
the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012.

6.5.3 We are also setting out our commitments as a socially responsible
employer.

7. Risk Assessment in Relation to Governance, Risk Management and
Internal Control
7.1

As Accountable Officer I have overall responsibility for:
104

NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group Annual report 2014/15

•

ensuring the implementation of an effective risk management
strategy, including effective risk management systems and
internal controls;

• the development of the corporate governance and assurance
framework;
•

meeting all the statutory requirements and ensuring positive
performance towards our strategic objectives.

7.2

Each of the directors of the CCG is responsible for:
•

co-ordinating operational risk in their specific areas in accordance
with the Risk Management Strategy;

• ensuring that all areas of risk are assessed appropriately and
action taken to implement improvements;
•

ensuring that staff under their management are aware of their risk
management responsibilities in relation to the Risk Management
Strategy;

•

incorporating risk management as a management technique
within the performance management arrangements for the
organisation.

7.3 Risk is identified and embedded in the organisation via a number of
mechanisms including a comprehensive risk register which identifies
current and prospective risks to the organisation. As highlighted above, the
risk register incorporates the full comprehensive list of all risks facing the
organisation at an operational and strategic level, across the five areas of
delivery, development and transition, finance, performance and quality.

7.4 The risk register captures details of the assessment of each risk in
terms of consequence and likelihood to produce an overall risk score,
together with the mitigating action then being taken to manage those risks.

7.5 Each risk is assigned to a responsible director, who maintains overall
responsibility for the risk, with each risk also aligned to a Governing Body
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committee based on the respective delivery area. Commissioning, quality,
finance and performance risks are aligned to the CCG strategic objectives
and all risk registers are shared with the Executive Committee.

7.6 All risks are reviewed on a monthly basis by the respective aligned
committee to ensure that risks are appropriately assessed and that where
required action is being taken, with the Executive Committee and
Governing Body performing an overall review of all risks.

7.7 All corporate red risks (scoring 15 or above), identified as having the
potential to have a significant impact on the CCG corporate objectives, are
then escalated and specifically reviewed by the Governing Body.

7.8 The Audit and Assurance Committee ensures the CCG adheres to a
robust risk management assessment process. Active steps are taken to
ensure that it is regularly updated.

7.9 The process for identifying and assessing risks within the CCG has
remained unchanged throughout the year; see diagram 1 below for the
CCG risk process.
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7.10 Risks have continued to be reviewed and managed during the year
with a number of new risks identified during the year, together with risks
closed as mitigating action is completed and issues are resolved. Details of
all of the risks that have faced the CCG during the year can be found in the
monthly Governing Body reports which are available on the CCG‟s website.
7.11 Current risks
Table 1 shows the current risk profile and table 2 summarises the current
significant corporate red risks facing the CCG as at March 2015.
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Table 1 CCG risk profile
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Table 2 CCG corporate red risk summary
Risk
Information sharing about potential high cost
cases. There is currently very limited information
sharing about patients in specialist commissioning
beds that may require CCG funded high cost packages
of care upon discharge. This impacts upon CCG
financial planning and as the costs can be significant,
this has the potential to destabilise CCG finances.

Actions
Concerns have been raised with NHS England
area team and specialist commissioning staff.
More information is becoming available which is
helping to clarify volumes of cases and help
quantify the risk. Early indications are that
DDES CCG has a number of cases. DDES
CCG staff have attended care and treatment
reviews of patients to understand future needs.

Rating
16

7.12 Future Risks
The current pressures on the health service are substantial, in particular the
increasing demands of an ageing and growing population must be met from
constrained financial resources. This will increase the pressure on current
services and potential risks around delivery of performance targets whilst
maintaining quality and ensuring services are safe, within available financial
resources. The introduction of the Better Care Fund in 2015/16, a single
pooled budget across the CCG and local authority, designed to enable
transformation in integrated health and social care, will require substantial
change in the way services are delivered with an unprecedented shift in
activity required away from hospital into community settings.

The CCG has agreed a two-year operational plan, incorporating the Better
Care Fund, with a five-year strategic plan in development, all supported by
a financial plan.

These plans demonstrate how these pressures will be

managed to enable continued achievement of a balanced financial position
whilst also delivering on the strategic aims of the CCG. The impact of the
Better Care Fund in particular represents a significant challenge.

The

implementation of these plans and the schemes designed to take activity
out of hospital, will require close monitoring to ensure progress is made in
advance of 2015/16.
8. Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness of the Use of
Resources
8.1 The CCG has well developed systems and processes in place for
managing its resources. Robust financial governance arrangements have
been maintained throughout the year, including the Standing Orders,
Scheme of Reservation and Delegation, and Prime Financial Policies
incorporated within the CCG Constitution, supplemented by the CCG‟s
Standing Financial Instructions and detailed financial limits, all of which
provide the framework through which the CCG discharges its business.
This is supported by comprehensive and well established systems of
internal control which help to govern the effective use of resources.
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8.2 Annual budgets were set by the CCG prior to the start of the financial
year, based on the medium term financial plan, which set the basis on
which resources will be utilised. The strategic and operational planning
process incorporates a review and prioritisation of commissioning intentions
and investment decisions to enable the most effective and efficient use of
available resource. Annual budgets, and the longer term financial plans,
are reviewed and approved by the Governing Body. This includes plans to
deliver against the Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP)
agenda.

8.3 Both the Executive Committee and Commissioning, Quality, Finance
and Performance themed Executive Committee meetings play a key role in
managing performance and delivery against financial plans, ensuring
appropriate action is taken to address any issues as required and providing
assurance to the Governing Body that resources are being utilised in line
with plans, and that expected outcomes are being delivered. In addition,
monthly reports are also reviewed by the Governing Body, showing
performance against budgets and financial targets, including the QIPP plan.

8.4 The Audit and Assurance Committee also plays a key role in providing
assurance to the Governing Body in relation to financial governance
arrangements and the effectiveness of systems and processes of internal
control. A significant component of this assurance is the work of the CCG‟s
internal and external auditors.
8.5 Specifically, as part of their annual audit, the CCG‟s external auditors
are required to satisfy themselves that the CCG has made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use
of its resources. They do this by examining documentary evidence and
through discussions with senior managers. Their audit work is made
available to and reviewed by the Audit and Assurance Committee.

8.6 The CCG also makes use of benchmarking information produced both
nationally and locally to enable comparison of expenditure and patient
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outcomes against its peers. This benchmarking is a key element of all
commissioning processes to help determine value for money for new
services and pathways.

9. Review of the Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management and
Internal Control
9.1 As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the CCG.

9.2 Capacity to Handle Risk
9.2.1 As Accountable Officer I have overall responsibility for:
•

ensuring the implementation of an effective Risk Management
Policy, including effective risk management systems and internal
controls;

•

the development of the corporate governance and assurance
framework;

•

meeting all the statutory requirements and ensuring positive
performance towards our strategic objectives.

9.2.2 Each of the Executive Committee members of the CCG are
responsible for:
• co-ordinating operational risk in their specific areas in accordance
with the Risk Management policy;
• ensuring that all areas of risk are assessed appropriately and action
taken to implement improvements;
•

ensuring that staff under their management are aware of their risk
management responsibilities in relation to the Risk Management
policy;

•

incorporating risk management as a management technique within
the performance management arrangements for the organisation.

9.2.3 All managers within the CCG are responsible for implementing the
risk management policy within their span of control and for ensuring that
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staff understand and apply the relevant policy and strategy in relation to risk
management. All staff within the CCG are responsible for assisting in the
implementation of the Risk Management policy and for highlighting any
areas of risk through the incident reporting procedures, a principal means
through which the CCG manages risk and learns lessons.

9.3. Review of Effectiveness
9.3.1 As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of internal control. My review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors and the executive managers and clinical leads within the
CCG who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the
internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information
available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the
external auditors in their management letter and other reports.

9.3.2 The Board Assurance Framework itself provides me with evidence
that the effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving
its principal objectives have been reviewed.

9.3.3 As part of the CCG‟s risk management processes, an Assurance
Framework has been in place throughout the year which provides a simple
yet comprehensive method for the effective and focused management of
the principal risks and assurances to meeting and delivering the CCG‟s
objectives. The Assurance Framework reflects the principal risks
associated with the delivery of the CCG‟s strategic objectives. This
includes risks around the delivery of the CCG‟s strategic aims, financial
stability including QIPP delivery, and development of effective corporate
governance and risk management.

9.3.4 The Assurance Framework details with the key controls and
assurances in place against each risk, together with any relevant action
being taken to address gaps in controls and assurances where required.
This is supplemented by detailed risk registers that record the full
112

NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Group Annual report 2014/15

comprehensive list of all risks facing the CCG at an operational and
strategic level across the five areas of delivery, development and transition,
finance, performance and quality.

9.3.5 I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of
the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Governing Body,
Executive Committee, and the Audit and Assurance Committee. A plan to
address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is
in place.

9.3.6 Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year
for the CCG, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and
objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the CCG‟s system
of risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of Internal
Audit opinion contributes to the assurances available to the Accountable
Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Governing Body‟s own
assessment of the effectiveness of the CCG‟s system of internal control. It
concluded that:

The Head of Internal Audit Opinion (HoIA)
The purpose of our annual HoIA Opinion is to contribute to the assurances
available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which
underpin the Accountable Officer‟s own assessment of the effectiveness of
the organisation‟s system of internal control. This opinion will, in turn, assist
the Accountable Officer in the completion of the Annual Governance
Statement.

Our opinion is set out as follows:

1. Overall opinion;
2. Basis for the opinion;
3. Commentary.
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Our overall opinion is that Significant Assurance can be given that there is a
generally sound system of internal control, designed to meet the
organisation‟s objectives, and that controls are generally being applied
consistently. However, some weakness in the design and inconsistent
application of controls put the achievement of particular objectives at risk.

The basis for forming our opinion is as follows:

1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning
Assurance Framework and supporting processes;
2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk
based audit assignments, contained within internal audit risk-based
plans that have been reported throughout the year. This assessment
has taken account of the relative materiality of these areas and
management‟s progress in respect of addressing control
weaknesses;
3. Any reliance that is being placed upon third party assurances.

The commentary below provides the context for our opinion and, together
with the opinion, should be read in its entirety.

The design and operation of the Assurance Framework and
associated processes

During 2014/15, we have provided significant challenge and support to the
CCG regarding the assurance framework in terms of the format and
content, including discussions at Audit and Assurance Committee
meetings. We have also provided horizon scanning support and prompted
the CCG to undertake assurance mapping to source providers to enable
the CCG to effectively manage the process. The assurance framework has
existed throughout the year and although it may require some development
it is generally „fit for purpose‟. Risk management processes have been in
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place throughout the year and detailed discussions have been held at Audit
and Assurance Committee meetings.

CCG management processes have highlighted a number of issues
throughout the year that have been addressed directly with NECS
management as part of their routine meetings.

The range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit
assignments, contained within risk-based plans that have been
reported during the year

During the year 2014/15, we have undertaken our work in accordance with
the Internal Audit annual plan. Throughout the year, we have reported our
findings to the Chief Finance Officer and Chief Operating Officer (and other
Executive colleagues where applicable). Our internal audit progress reports
to the Audit and Assurance Committee have set out the areas covered by
internal audit work during the year, our results and matters arising.

The majority of this work would indicate that significant assurance opinions
have, or will be assigned to the majority of the CCG‟s systems and
processes. There is one audit that we have not completed at the time of
writing this annual report:
•

Business Continuity Planning (BCP)

We will seek to place reliance upon the Type II service auditor report from
NECS which will cover BCP testing.

By way of commentary it should also be noted that there have been no „no
assurance‟ final reports issued for 2014/15, and only one „limited
assurance‟ opinion relating to Continuing Healthcare (see below).

In undertaking our duties we have identified some weaknesses in the
design or effectiveness of controls in certain systems. We have reported
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these issues during the year, and post the year end, and would specifically
bring the following to the Accountable Officer‟s attention for potential
disclosure within the Annual Governance:

Statement:
Continuing Healthcare and Funded Nursing Care
The draft report has been issued and we are liaising with the Chief Finance
Officer to finalise the report. The extant assurance level will not negatively
impact upon the Head of Internal Audit Opinion. A summary of key findings
will be included in the final version of this report.

Third party assurances
As a result of the support service arrangements provided by NECS under a
signed service level agreement, the CCG will receive a number of
assurance reports covering the 1April 2014 to 31 March 2015, some of
which post date this draft opinion.

The CCG has received a Service Auditor Report from NECS covering the
period 1 April 2014 to 30 September 2014. The report covers 123 controls
relating to 39 control objectives in Payroll, Business Intelligence,
Information Governance, Finance, IT and Quality in relation to those
services provided to the CCG. The Deloitte audit opinion was a qualified
one, on account of five exceptions noted in the control environment. These
exceptions related to Payroll, Finance Training, Management Accounts,
Finance and routine reports. The report provides reasonable assurance that
the specified control objectives would be achieved if the described controls
operated effectively throughout the year.

We understand that work is currently ongoing to produce the second report
covering the second half of the year, and at the time of writing this report, it
had not been issued. We expect the report to cover BCP testing (as noted
above).
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The CCG will also receive a Service Auditor Report on continuing
healthcare controls operated by NECS on a specific date which has not yet
been determined. We understand that the report will not be available until
June 2015. In providing our overall assurance opinion, we can place no
reliance on unseen Service Auditor Report(s). However, following the issue
of these reports, we would suggest that the CCG takes appropriate action
with NECS if there are any reported weaknesses in NECS operating
controls.

The CCG will also have access to a Service Auditor Report from Shared
Business Services for finance and accounting and procurement controls;
and a separate Service Auditor Report for payroll. At the time of writing this
report, these assurances are not available to us and as such they may,
when received, impact on our opinion. If any of the above assurance
reports are issued prior to finalising our internal audit annual report, we will
amend this section to reflect the assurance it provides to the CCG.

The CCG has also received support from the NECS governance team.
Although we have no significant issues, we have discussed some concerns
that exist (from our perspective) regarding the effectiveness of
arrangements which will require review and clarification in 2015/16.

Audit North
April 2015

9.4. Data Quality
9.4.1The NECS Data Management service have processes and systems in
place to assess the quality and completeness of data managed on behalf of
the CCG. Data is checked at all stages of processing through CSU systems
and finally on publication of reports/analysis. Data is compared against
historic and planned levels to provide assurance on completeness as well
as with peer organisations in the form of benchmarking analysis.
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9.4.2 Processes are in place to raise any data quality issues with providers
on a monthly basis – feedback from these challenges is utilised to alter any
processing routines as required. The CCG utilises contract levers where
necessary to ensure high quality data is captured at source and to minimise
any updating of data once received by commissioners. Reconciliation
accounts for each contract highlight any discrepancies between provider
and commissioner data that are then investigated and resolved.

9.4.3 Significant validations steps are in place in all routine data processing
tasks to ensure poor quality data is not made available for analysis and
then subsequently used as the basis for commissioning decisions.

9.5. Business Critical Models
9.5.1 The CCG is aware of the quality assurance requirements in respect of
business critical models contained within the recommendations in the
Macpherson report and I consider that appropriate arrangements are in
place to provide sufficient quality assurance.

9.5.2 Any business critical models identified, together with information
relating to the quality assurance processes for those models, will be
provided to the Analytical Oversight Committee chaired by the Chief
Analyst in the Department of Health, as appropriate.

9.6 Data Security
9.6.1 The CCG has published the HSCIC Information Governance Toolkit
and has self-assessed as being level 2 overall compliant, which confirms
the organisation‟s rating as overall „satisfactory‟ in this regard. In
accordance with the agreed internal audit plan for 2014/15, an audit of the
Information Governance Toolkit self-assessment was undertaken, the
scope of which was to provide ongoing assurance that the processes for
determining scores against individual requirements was adequate.

9.6.2 There has been no data security breach identified in 2014/15.
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9.6.3 NECS, as the provider of IT services to the CCG, has a range of
controls in place. Control objectives include: physical access, logical
access, segregation of duties, data transmissions, data centre
environmental controls, IT processing, data integrity and backups, change
management procedures, network security measures, problem and incident
resolution, system recovery and disaster recovery plans. Assurance is
provided to the CCG on the effectiveness of these controls through the
AAF01/06 (service auditor) report that Deloitte will produce for the CCG to
inform this. The CCG has now received the AAF Report which shows that
all IT controls described above are „operating effectively‟.

9.7. Discharge of Statutory Functions
9.7.1 During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and
explained within the Corporate Governance Framework were developed
with extensive expert external legal input, to ensure compliance with all
relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed the matters reserved
for Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the scheme of
delegation.

9.7.2 In light of the Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory
duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result,
I can confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements
associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible,
including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.

9.7.3 Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a
lead director. Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the
necessary capability and capacity to undertake all of the CCG‟s statutory
duties.

10. Conclusion
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No significant internal control issues have been identified.

Dr Stewart Findlay
Accountable Officer
29 May 2015
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2015
2014/15
£000

2013/14
£000

4.1
5
2

2,037
420,724
(39)
422,722

1,868
411,105
(396)
412,577

8
9
10

422,722

143
412,720

Note
Administration costs and programme expenditure
Gross employee benefits
Other costs
Other operating revenue
Net operating costs before interest
Investment Revenue
Other losses
Finance costs
Net operating costs for the financial year
Of which:
Administration costs
Gross employee benefits
Other costs
Other operating revenue
Net administration costs before interest

4.1
5
2

Programme expenditure
Gross employee benefits
Other costs
Other operating revenue
Net programme expenditure before interest

4.1
5
2

Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year

1

1,744
4,748
(39)
6,453

1,603
4,632
(49)
6,186

293
415,976
416,269

265
406,616
(347)
406,534

422,722

412,720
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2015
Note
Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

13
14

31 March 2015
£000

31 March 2014
£000

5,259
38
5,297

3,609
187
3,796

5,297

3,796

(24,408)
(24,408)

(20,892)
(170)
(21,062)

Total assets less current liabilities

(19,111)

(17,266)

Financed by taxpayers’ equity
General fund
Total taxpayers' equity:

(19,111)
(19,111)

(17,266)
(17,266)

Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities

15

The notes on pages 5 to 30 form part of this statement.

The financial statements on pages 1 to 30 were approved and authorised for issue by the Governing Body on 27 May
2015 and signed on its behalf by:

Dr Stewart Findlay
Accountable Officer
29 May 2015
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2015
General
fund
£000

Revaluation
reserve
£000

Total
reserves
£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014/15
Balance at 1 April 2014

(17,266)

-

(17,266)

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2014/15:
Net operating costs for the financial year

(422,722)

-

(422,722)

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year

(422,722)

-

(422,722)

Net Parliamentary funding

420,877

-

420,877

Balance at 31 March 2015

(19,111)

-

(19,111)

General
fund
£000

Revaluation
reserve
£000

Total
reserves
£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013/14
Balance at 1 April 2013

224

4

228

Changes in CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2013/14:
Net operating costs for the financial year
Release of reserves to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure

(412,720)
4

(4)

(412,720)
-

Net recognised CCG expenditure for the financial year

(412,492)

-

(412,492)

Net Parliamentary funding

395,226

-

395,226

Balance at 31 March 2014

(17,266)

-

(17,266)
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2015
2014/15
£000

2013/14
£000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net operating costs for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
(Increase) in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables
Provisions utilised
(Decrease) in provisions
Net cash outflow from operating activities

(422,722)
(1,650)
3,516
(156)
(14)
(421,026)

(412,577)
85
(3,609)
20,892
170
(395,039)

Net cash outflow before financing

(421,026)

(395,039)

420,877
420,877

395,226
395,226

Note

Cash flows from financing activities
Net funding received
Net cash inflow from financing activities
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

14

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the end of the
financial year

4

(149)

187

187

-

38
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Notes to the financial statements
1.

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) shall meet the
accounting requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health. Consequently, the
following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Manual for Accounts 2014/15 issued by
the Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in the Manual for Accounts follow International
Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to CCGs, as determined by
HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Manual for Accounts
permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular
circumstances of the CCG for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies
adopted by the CCG are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered
material in relation to the accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the
future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a CCG ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set
of financial statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going
concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3

Acquisitions and Discontinued Operations
Activities are considered to be „acquired‟ only if they are taken on from outside the public sector. Activities are
considered to be „discontinued‟ only if they cease entirely. They are not considered to be „discontinued‟ if they
transfer from one public sector body to another.

1.4

Movement of Assets within the Department of Health Group
Transfers as part of reorganisation fall to be accounted for by use of absorption accounting in line with the
Government Financial Reporting Manual, issued by HM Treasury. The Government Financial Reporting Manual
does not require retrospective adoption, so prior year transactions (which have been accounted for under merger
accounting) have not been restated. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in
the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the
public sector. Where assets and liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health Group are accounted for in-line with IAS 20
and similarly give rise to income and expenditure entries.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.

Accounting Policies (continued)

1.5

Pooled Budgets
Where the CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act
2006 the CCG accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of
the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the pooled budget agreement.
If the CCG is in a “jointly controlled operation”, the CCG recognises:
·
The assets the CCG controls;
·
The liabilities the CCG incurs;
·
The expenses the CCG incurs; and,
·
The CCG‟s share of the income from the pooled budget activities.
If the CCG is involved in a “jointly controlled assets” arrangement, in addition to the above, the CCG recognises:
·
The CCG‟s share of the jointly controlled assets (classified according to the nature of the assets);
·
The CCG‟s share of any liabilities incurred jointly; and,
·
The CCG‟s share of the expenses jointly incurred.

1.6

Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the CCG‟s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the estimates and underlying
assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

1.6.1

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has
made in the process of applying the CCG‟s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:
• determining whether income and expenditure should be disclosed as either administrative or programme
expenditure;
• determining whether a substantial transfer of risks and rewards has occurred in relation to leased assets;
• determining whether a provision or contingent liability should be recognised in respect of certain potential future
obligations, particularly in respect of continuing healthcare.

1.6.2

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the CCG‟s accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
• the assumptions applied in the estimation of activity not yet invoiced, including partially completed treatment
spells as at the Statement of Financial Position date; and
• the estimate of potential future liabilities in respect of continuing healthcare services.

1.7

Revenue
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs, and is
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable.
Where income is received for a specific activity that is to be delivered in the following year, that income is deferred.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.

Accounting Policies (continued)

1.8

Employee Benefits

1.8.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received
from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial
statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.8.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under
the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that
would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, the
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating in the
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health, the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the CCG
commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.

1.9

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received.
They are measured at the fair value of the consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect of grants are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive
obligation, which occurs when all of the conditions attached to the payment have been met.

1.10

Property, Plant and Equipment

1.10.1 Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
•
It is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
•
It is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential will be supplied to the CCG;
•
It is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
•
The cost of the item can be measured reliably; and,
•
The item has a cost of at least £5,000; or,
•
Collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than
£250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are
anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or,
•
Items form part of the initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit, irrespective of
their individual or collective cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset
lives, the components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their own useful economic lives.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.
1.10

Accounting Policies (continued)
Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

1.10.2 Valuation
All property, plant and equipment are measured initially at cost, representing the cost directly attributable to
acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at fair value.
Land and buildings used for the CCG‟s services or for administrative purposes are stated in the Statement of
Financial Position at their re-valued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any impairment.
Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are not materially different
from those that would be determined at the end of the reporting period. Fair values are determined as follows:
•
•

Land and non-specialised buildings – market value for existing use; and,
Specialised buildings – depreciated replacement cost.

HM Treasury has adopted a standard approach to depreciated replacement cost valuations based on modern
equivalent assets and, where it would meet the location requirements of the service being provided, an alternative
site can be valued.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any
impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses
immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are re-valued and depreciation commences
when they are brought into use.
Fixtures and equipment are carried at depreciated historic cost as this is not considered to be materially different
from fair value.
An increase arising on revaluation is taken to the revaluation reserve except when it reverses an impairment for the
same asset previously recognised in expenditure, in which case it is credited to expenditure to the extent of the
decrease previously charged there. A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or
service potential is recognised as an impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a
balance on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear
consumption of economic benefit are taken to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve
are reported as other comprehensive income in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure.

1.10.3 Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an asset beyond its original specification, the directly attributable cost is
capitalised. Where subsequent expenditure restores the asset to its original specification, the expenditure is
capitalised and any existing carrying value of the item replaced is written-out and charged to operating expenses.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.
1.11

Accounting Policies (continued)
Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are charged to write off the costs or valuation of property, plant and
equipment and intangible non-current assets, less any residual value, over their estimated useful lives, in a manner
that reflects the consumption of economic benefits or service potential of the assets. The estimated useful life of
an asset is the period over which the CCG expects to obtain economic benefits or service potential from the asset.
This is specific to the CCG and may be shorter than the physical life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and
residual values are reviewed each year end, with the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
At each reporting period end, the CCG checks whether there is any indication that any of its tangible or intangible
non-current assets have suffered an impairment loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated to determine whether there has been a loss and, if so, its amount. Intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from a loss of economic value or service potential is recognised as an
impairment charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on the reserve for the asset and,
thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefit are taken to
expenditure. Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of the recoverable amount but capped at the amount that would have been determined had
there been no initial impairment loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited to expenditure to the extent of
the decrease previously charged there and thereafter to the revaluation reserve.

1.12

Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

1.12.1 The CCG as Lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease
incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
1.13

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than
24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in three months or less from the date of acquisition and
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and that form an integral part of the CCG‟s cash management.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.
1.14

Accounting Policies (continued)
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the CCG has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the CCG will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is the present
value of those cash flows using HM Treasury‟s discount rate as follows:
•
•
•
•

Timing of cash flows (0 to 5 years inclusive): Minus 1.50%
Timing of cash flows (6 to 10 years inclusive): Minus 1.05%
Timing of cash flows (over 10 years): Plus 2.20%
All employee early departures: 1.30%

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is recognised when the CCG has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring
and has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement
the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The measurement of a restructuring provision
includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity.
1.15

Clinical Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority operates a risk pooling scheme under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to
the NHS Litigation Authority which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to
expenditure. Although the NHS Litigation Authority is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases
the legal liability remains with the CCG.

1.16

Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The CCG participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk
pooling schemes under which the CCG pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and, in return,
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses
payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.

1.17

Continuing Healthcare Risk Pooling
In 2014/15, a risk pool scheme has been introduced by NHS England for continuing healthcare claims, for claim
periods prior to 31 March 2013. Under the scheme CCG's contribute annually to a pooled fund, which is used to
settle the claims.

1.18

Contingencies
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the CCG,
or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed
unless the possibility of a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the CCG. A
contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money is material, contingencies are disclosed at their present value.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.
1.19

Accounting Policies (continued)
Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the CCG becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of
trade receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
•
•
•
•

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss;
Held to maturity investments;
Available for sale financial assets; and,
Loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition.
All CCG assets have been classified as loans and receivables.
1.19.1 Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not quoted
in an active market. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
Fair value is determined by reference to quoted market prices where possible, otherwise by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial asset, to the initial fair value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting period, the CCG assesses whether any financial assets, other than those held at „fair
value through profit and loss‟, are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment losses recognised if
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events which occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset‟s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the
asset‟s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in expenditure and the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced through a provision for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through expenditure to the extent that the carrying amount of the receivable at the date of the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
1.20

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the CCG becomes party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have
been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has
been paid or has expired.
Loans from the Department of Health are recognised at historical cost. Otherwise, financial liabilities are initially
recognised at fair value.

1.20.1 Other Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, except for loans from Department of Health, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the net carrying
amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective interest method.
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1.
1.21

Accounting Policies (continued)
Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the CCG are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input
tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included
in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. W here output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the
amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.22

Losses and Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the
health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore
subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled.
Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in expenditure on an accruals basis,
including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had the CCG not been bearing its own
risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure).

1.23

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial Reporting Manual does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be
applied in 2014/15, all of which are subject to consultation:
•

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments

•

IFRS 13: Fair Value Measurement

•

IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Accounts

•

IFRS 15: Revenue for Contract with Customers

The application of the Standards as revised would not have a material impact on the accounts for 2014/15, were
they applied in that year.
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2. Other Operating Revenue
2014/15
Admin
£000
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

39
39

2014/15
Programme
£000

2014/15
Total
£000

-

2013/14
Total
£000

39
39

354
42
396

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank

3. Revenue
2014/15
Admin
£000
39
39

From rendering of services
From sale of goods
Total

2014/15
Programme
£000
-

2014/15
Total
£000
39
39

2013/14
Total
£000
396
396

Revenue is totally from the rendering of services. The clinical commissioning group receives no revenue from the sale of goods.
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers
4.1 Employee benefits

2014/15

Total

Total

Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

£000

£000

£000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Termination benefits
Total employee benefits expenditure

1,512
129
186
210
2,037

1,457
129
186
210
1,982

Admin
Total

55
55

Programme

£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

Other
£000

Total
£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

Other
£000

1,266
110
158
210
1,744

1,214
110
158
210
1,692

52
52

246
19
28
293

243
19
28
290

3
3

No amounts were recovered in respect of employee benefits and no employee benefits were capitalised during the year.

2013/14 comparative figures

2013/14

Total

Total

Total

Permanent
Employees

Other

£000

£000

£000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Total employee benefits expenditure

1,552
136
180
1,868

1,536
136
180
1,852

Admin
Total

16
16

£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

Other
£000

Total
£000

Permanent
Employees
£000

Other
£000

1,331
119
153
1,603

1,321
119
153
1,593

10
10

221
17
27
265

215
17
27
259

6
6

4.2 Average number of people employed
Total
Number
Total

37

2014/15
Permanently
employed
Number
36

2013/14
Other
Number

Total
Number

1

35

None of the above people were engaged on capital projects.

4.3 Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
Total Days Lost
Total Staff Years
Average working Days Lost

2014/15
Number
324
32
10

2013/14
Number
91
32
3

The staff sickness absence data for 2014/15 is based on the 12 months ended 31 December 2014 (2013/14: 9 month period from April to December 2013).
No staff retired early on ill health grounds during the financial year.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year
2014/15
Compulsory redundancies
Number
Over £200,001
Total

2013/14 comparative figures

1
1

£
210,000
210,000

Total
Number
1
1

2013/14
Compulsory redundancies
Number

£10,001 to £25,000
£25,001 to £50,000
£50,001 to £100,000
Total

4
1
1
6

£
58,145
38,536
73,332
170,013

£
210,000
210,000

Total
Number
4
1
1
6

£
58,145
38,536
73,332
170,013

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the NHS Scheme.
Where the CCG has agreed early retirements, the additional costs are met by the CCG and not by the NHS
pensions scheme. Ill-health retirement costs are met by the NHS pensions scheme and are not included in the
table.
This disclosure report s t he number and value of exit packages agreed during t he f inancial year.

15

NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG - Annual Accounts 2014/15

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
4. Employee benefits and staff numbers (continued)
4.5 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. Details of the benefits
payable under these provisions can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.

The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies,
allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and W ales. The scheme is not designed to be run
in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the clinical
commissioning group of participating in the scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for
the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those
that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that "the period
between formal valuations shall be 4 years, with approximate assessments in intervening years". An outline of
these follows:

a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting
period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust
figures for financial reporting purposes.
The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2015, is based on valuation data as at 31 March 2014, updated
to 31 March 2015 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the
methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury
have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the Scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part of
the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and W ales) Pension Accounts, published annually. These accounts can
be viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
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4. Employee benefits and staff numbers (continued)
4.5 Pension costs (continued)
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme (taking
into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year ending
31 March 2012.
The Scheme Regulations allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of
HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee and employer
representatives as deemed appropriate.

c) Scheme Provisions
The NHS Pension Scheme provides defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative guide
only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that must be met
before these benefits can be obtained:
• The scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section and of
the best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008 section of
reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme Regulations have
their annual pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable service;
• W ith effect from 1 April 2008, members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional tax
free lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HM Revenue & Customs rules. This new provision is
known as “pension commutation”;
• Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and are
based on changes in retail prices in the 12 months ending 30 September in the previous calendar year. From 201112 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) has been used and replaced the Retail Prices Index (RPI).
• Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently
incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year‟s
pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable;
• For early retirements, other than those due to ill health, the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer;
• Members can purchase additional service in the Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC‟s run by the
Scheme‟s approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC) providers.
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5. Operating expenses
2014/15
Admin
£000
Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding Governing Body members
Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits
Other costs
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from Foundation Trusts
Services from other NHS Trusts
Services from other NHS Bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Chair and Non Executive Members
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
Impairments and reversals of receivables
Depreciation
Audit fees
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·
Internal audit services
·
Other services
Prescribing costs
Pharmaceutical services
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Other professional fees excl. audit
Clinical negligence
Education and training
Provisions
CHC Risk Pool contributions
Other expenditure
Total other costs
Total operating expenses

18

2014/15
Programme
£000

2014/15
Total
£000

2013/14
Total
£000

1,102
642
1,744

293
293

1,395
642
2,037

1,109
759
1,868

4,075
30
52
77
52
108
4
219
102

1,867
307,498
511
46,677
504
14
1,716
-

5,942
307,528
511
46,677
52
581
52
122
4
1,935
102

1
28
6
8
(14)
4,748

56,228
367
(1)
595
415,976

1
56,228
367
28
6
7
(14)
595
420,724

4,334
308,627
536
762
38,074
53
792
70
134
5
970
281
85
104
-

6,492

416,269

422,761

55,068
386
544
24
5
81
170
411,105
412,973
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
6.0 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2014/15
Number

2014/15
£000

2013/14
Number

2013/14
£000

Non-NHS Payables
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid within target

10,830
10,487
96.83%

53,725
52,455
97.64%

9,665
9,459
97.87%

40,804
39,823
97.60%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

2,032
2,007
98.77%

315,813
313,828
99.37%

1,387
1,362
98.20%

311,983
311,525
99.85%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt
of a valid invoice, whichever is later.

6.1 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
There were no payments made in respect of late payments of commercial debts in 2014/15 (2013/14: none).

7. Income Generation Activities
The CCG does not undertake any income generation activities.

8. Investment revenue
There was no investment revenue in 2014/15 (2013/14: none).

9. Other (gains) and losses
There were no other (gains) and losses in 2014/15 (2013/14: £143k).

10. Finance costs
There were no finance costs in 2014/15 (2013/14: none).
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11. Operating Leases
11.1 As lessee
The CCG has entered into a small number of formal operating lease arrangements, relating to leased cars and the
lease of photocopying equipment, none of which are individually significant. Specific lease terms vary by individual
arrangement but are based upon standard practice for the type of arrangement involved.
The CCG occupies property owned and managed by NHS Property Services Limited. For 2013/14, a transitional
occupancy rent based on annual property cost allocations was agreed. For 2014/15, the charges from NHS Property
Services Limited reflect the actual cost of occupancy, or void space, attributable to the CCG. This is reflected in Note
11.1.1.
While our arrangements with NHS Property Services Ltd fall within the definition of operating leases, the rental
charge for future years has not yet been agreed. Consequently, this note does not include future minimum lease
payments for these arrangements.

11.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
2014/15
Buildings
£000

2014/15
Other
£000

2014/15
Total
£000

2013/14
Total
£000

1,884
1,884

5
5

1,889
1,889

937
937

2014/15
Buildings
£000

2014/15
Other
£000

2014/15
Total
£000

2013/14
Total
£000

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Sub-lease payments
Total

11.1.2 Future minimum lease payments

Payable:
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total

-

20

4
5
9

4
5
9

10
6
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12. Property, plant and equipment
Plant &
machinery
£000
-

2014/15
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2014
Net Book Value at 31 March 2015

-

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant and Equipment
Plant &
machinery
£000
-

Balance at 1 April 2014
At 31 March 2015

-

2013/14 comparative figures
2013/14
Transfer of assets from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 2013 transition
Adjusted Cost or valuation at 1 April 2013
Disposals other than by sale
At 31 March 2014

Plant &
machinery
£000
228
228
(228)
-

Depreciation 1 April 2013

-

Disposals other than by sale
Charged during the year
At 31 March 2014

(85)
85
-

Net Book Value at 31 March 2014

-

Revaluation Reserve Balance for Property, Plant and Equipment

Transfer of assets from closed NHS bodies as a result of the 1 April 2013 transition
Adjusted balance at 1 April 2013
Release to general fund
At 31 March 2014

Plant &
machinery
£000's
4
4
(4)
-
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13. Trade and other receivables

Current
31 March 2015
£000

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments and accrued income
Non-NHS receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income
Provision for the impairment of receivables
VAT
Operating lease receivables
Other receivables
Total Trade and other receivables

2,225
2,149
701
175
3
6
5,259

Total current and non current

5,259

Non-current
31 March 2015
£000
-

Current
31 March 2014
£000

Non-current
31 March 2014
£000

1,687
1,695
450
42
(281)
9
6
1
3,609

-

3,609

The great majority of trade is with other NHS bodies, including other CCGs as commissioners for NHS patient care services. As
CCGs are funded by Government to commission NHS patient care services, no credit scoring of them is considered necessary.

13.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired
31 March 2015
£000
By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

31 March 2014
£000

16
19
14
49

204
204

£36k of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.
The CCG did not hold any collateral against receivables outstanding at 31 March 2015.

13.2 Provision for impairment of receivables
2014/15
£000
Balance at 1 April 2014

(281)

Amounts written off during the year
Amounts recovered during the year
Decrease / (Increase) in receivables impaired
Balance at 31 March 2015

2013/14
£000
-

281
-

(281)
(281)

The CCG has reviewed all receivables to determine whether an impairment value is required. In determining the recoverability of
a receivable, the CCG considers any change in credit quality of the receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the
reporting date. The overall level of credit risk is considered to be relatively low due to the proportion of the customer base which
is comprised of NHS bodies.
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14. Cash and cash equivalents

Balance at 1 April 2014
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2015

31 March 2015
£000

31 March 2014
£000

187
(149)
38

187
187

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash in hand
Cash and cash equivalents as in Statement of Financial Position

37
1
38

186
1
187

Balance at 31 March 2015

38

187

The CCG held £nil cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2015 on behalf of patients (31 March 2014: £nil).

15. Trade and other payables

NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals and deferred income
Non-NHS payables: revenue
Non-NHS accruals and deferred income
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables
Total Trade and Other Payables
Total current and non-current

Current
31 March 2015
£000

Non-current
31 March 2015
£000

Current
31 March 2014
£000

Non-current
31 March 2014
£000

3,845
4,017
891
15,071
20
26
538
24,408

-

3,961
2,128
586
14,028
189
20,892

-

24,408

-

20,892

At 31 March 2015, the CCG had no liabilities due in future years under arrangements to buy out the liability for early
retirement over five years (31 March 2014: none).
Other payables include £34k in respect of outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2015 (31 March 2014: £nil).

16. Contingencies
There were no contingent assets or liabilities at 31 March 2015 (31 March 2014: none).

17. Commitments
There were no contracted or non-cancellable contracts entered into by the CCG at 31 March 2015 which are not otherwise
included in these financial statements (31 March 2014: none).
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18. Provisions
Current
2014/15
£000
Restructuring
Total

Current
2013/14
£000
0
0

Restructuring
£000s
Balance at 1 April 2014

170

Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused

0
(156)
(14)

Balance at 31 March 2015

(0)
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19. Financial instruments
19.1 Financial risk management
Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the
period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
As the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by
business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than
would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG has
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds, and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day
operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the CCG in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally
within the CCG's standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is
subject to review by the CCG's internal auditors.

19.1.1 Currency risk
The CCG is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities
being in the UK and sterling based. The CCG has no overseas operations. The CCG therefore has low
exposure to currency rate fluctuations.

19.1.2 Interest rate risk
The CCG has no borrowings and has only limited powers to borrow funds from government for capital
expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The CCG therefore has low exposure to
interest rate fluctuations.

19.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the CCG's revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the CCG has low exposure to
credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as
disclosed in the trade and other receivables note.

19.1.4 Liquidity risk
The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources
voted annually by Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS
CCG is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
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19. Financial instruments (continued)
19.2 Financial assets
Loans and
Receivables
31 March 2015
£000
Embedded derivatives
Receivables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Cash at bank and in hand
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March

Total
31 March 2015
£000

Loans and
Receivables
31 March 2014
£000

Total
31 March 2014
£000

-

-

-

-

3,630
761
38
6
4,435

3,630
761
38
6
4,435

3,101
459
187
1
3,748

3,101
459
187
1
3,748

19.3 Financial liabilities
Other
31 March 2015
£000
Payables:
·
NHS
·
Non-NHS
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March

7,863
16,545
24,408

Total
31 March 2015
£000

Other
31 March 2014
£000

7,863
16,545
24,408

Total
31 March 2014
£000

6,089
14,803
170
21,062

6,089
14,803
170
21,062

20. Operating segments
The CCG has considered the definition of an operating segment contained within IFRS 8 in determining its operating
segments, in particular considering the internal reporting to the CCG's Governing Body, considered to be the 'chief operating
decision maker' of the CCG, which was used for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of performance.

All activity performed by the CCG relates to its role as a commissioner of healthcare for its relevant population. As a result,
the CCG considers that it has only one operating segment, being the commissioning of healthcare services.
An analysis of both the income and expenditure and net assets relating to the segment can be found in the statement of
comprehensive net expenditure and statement of financial position respectively.

21. Pooled budgets
The CCG was not party to any pooled budget arrangements during 2014/15 (2013/14: none).
The CCG has subsequently entered into a pooled budget arrangement with Durham County Council, with effect from 1 April
2015, in respect of the Better Care Fund.
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22. Intra-government and other balances
Current
Receivables
31 March 2015
£000
Balances with:
·
Other Central Government bodies
·
Local Authorities
Balances with NHS bodies:
·
NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group
·
NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Total of balances with NHS bodies:
·
·

81
1,613

-

3,423
952
4,375

-

1,302
6,561
7,863

-

251

-

14,851

-

5,259

-

24,408

-

Balances with:
·
Other Central Government bodies
·
Local Authorities

·
·

Non-current
Receivables
31 March 2014
£000

Current
Payables
31 March 2014
£000

Non-current
Payables
31 March 2014
£000

9
107

-

2,740

-

3,327
55
3,382

-

1,532
4,557
6,089

-

112

-

12,063

-

3,610

-

20,892

-

Public corporations and trading funds
Bodies external to Government

Total balances at 31 March 2014

Non-current
Payables
31 March 2015
£000

-

Current
Receivables
31 March 2014
£000

Balances with NHS bodies:
·
NHS bodies outside the Departmental Group
·
NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Total of balances with NHS bodies:

Current
Payables
31 March 2015
£000

78
555

Public corporations and trading funds
Bodies external to Government

Total balances at 31 March 2015

Non-current
Receivables
31 March 2015
£000

23. Events after the end of the reporting period
There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the CCG.

24. Losses and special payments
There were no losses or special payments identified in 2014/15 (2013/14: none).
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25. Related party transactions
During the year, the CCG has undertaken transactions with the following CCG Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, or
parties related to any of them:

CCG Governing Body member

£000

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000

8
11,871
256

82
468
0

0
1,613
0

118
509
0

301
467

0
1

0
0

1
1

Payments
to Related
Party

Possible Related Party

A Dolphin
Lay Chair

NHS England
Durham County Council
Pioneering Care Partnership

Dr S Findlay
Chief Clinical Officer

Bishopgate Medical Centre
Durham Dales Health Federation

N Bailey
Chief Operating Officer

North Durham CCG

1,087

3,627

1,113

2,955

J Chandy
Director of Primary Care, Development and
Engagement

Jupiter House Practice
Joseph Chandy Charitable Trust
Carodoc Practice
Wheatley Hill and Thornley Practice
South Durham Health CIC

10
12
51
130
1,346

1
0
5
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

1
0
6
2
0

K Tallintire
Lay Member

Derwentside Homes Ltd
Durham County Council

19
11,871

0
468

0
1,613

0
509

D Taylor-Gooby
Lay Member

Durham County Council

11,871

468

1,613

509

Dr H Moore
Locality Lead - Sedgefield

Ferryhill Medical Practice
South Durham Health CIC

319
1,346

0
0

19
0

0
0

Dr J McGuire
Sessional GP Member (Leaver 30.11.14)

County Durham & Darlington NHS FT

157,567

0

3,715

366

G Findley
Director of Nursing

Darlington CCG

436

107

114

350

M Pickering
Chief Finance Officer

Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS FT

47,673

0

0

0

S Burns
Director of Commissioning

Gentoo Group

50

0

0

0

A Lynch
Director of Public Health (DCC) - non voting

Durham County Council
North Durham CCG

11,871
1,087

468
3,627

1,613
1,113

509
2,955

L Jeavons
Durham County Council - non voting

Durham County Council
Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS FT

11,871
47,673

468
0

1,613
0

509
0

Dr W Jose
Locality Lead - Sedgefield (Commenced 01.05.14)

South Durham Health CIC
Jubilee Medical Practice

1,346
181

0
0

0
3

0
0

V Watson
Locality Lead - Durham Dales (Leaver 30.04.14)

Durham Dales Health Federation
Weardale Practice

467
311

1
0

0
16

1
0

Dr D Waller
Locality Lead - Durham Dales (Commenced 01.05.14)

Woodview Surgery
Durham Dales Health Federation

205
467

0
1

2
0

0
1

Dr N Pindolia
Locality Lead - Durham Dales

Station View Medical Centre
Durham Dales Health Federation

236
467

0
1

6
0

0
1

Dr J Smith
Locality Lead - Easington

South Durham Health CIC
Silverdale Family Practice

1,346
58

0
0

0
1

0
0

C Hardy
Locality Lead - Easington

South Durham Health CIC
Horden Group Practice

1,346
98

0
0

0
2

0
0

Dr J Carlton
Medical Advisor (Commenced 01.05.14)

Darlington CCG

436

107

114

350

Dr R Armstrong
Locality Lead - Easington (Commenced 01.05.14)

South Durham Health CIC
Blackhall & Peterlee Practice

1,346
71

0
0

0
0

0
0

All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year, the CCG has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for
which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. For example:
• NHS England;
• NHS Foundation Trusts;
• NHS Trusts;
• NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.
In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of
these transactions have been with Durham County Council.
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25. Related party transactions (continued)
2013/14 comparative figures:
During 2013/14, the CCG undertook transactions with the following CCG Governing Body members or members of the key management staff, or parties
related to any of them:

CCG Governing Body Member

Payments
to Related
Party

Possible Related Party

£000
A Dolphin
Lay Chair

NHS England
Durham County Council

Dr S Findlay

Bishopgate Medical Centre

Chief Clinical Officer

NHS Confederation

J Chandy
Director of Primary Care, Development and E

Wheatley Hill practice
Shinwell Medical Practice
Durham County Council
Joseph Chandy Charitable Trust

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000

146
8,638

149
149

6
2,740

62
107

211

0

1

0

0

0

11

95
55
8,638
0

0
0
149
0

0
0
2,740
6

0
0
107
0

33

0

0

0

ngageme Carodoc Practice
K Tallintire
Lay Member

Durham County Council

8,638

149

2,740

107

D Taylor-Gooby
Lay Member

Durham County Council

8,638

149

2,740

107

Dr H Moore
Locality Lead Sedgefield

Ferryhill Medical Practice

228

0

3

0

Dr S Muscat
Locality Lead Easington

Murton Medical Group
Shinwell Medical Centre

48
55

0
0

4
0

0
0

Dr J McGuire
Sessional GP

County Durham & Darlington NHS FT

155,060

109

1,632

54

M Taylor
Chief Finance and Operating Officer

County Durham & Darlington NHS FT
Durham County Council

155,060
8,638

109
149

1,632
2,740

54
107

G Findley
Director of Nursing/Nurse Advisor

Durham County Council

8,638

149

2,740

107

M Pickering
Interim Chief Finance Officer

Durham County Council
Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS FT

8,638
47,008

149
167

2,740
108

107
0

A Lynch
Director of Public Health (DCC)

Durham County Council
North Durham CCG
East Durham Trust

8,638
192
0

149
1
0

2,740
909
10

107
2,985
0

L Jeavons
Durham County Council - non voting

Durham County Council
Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS FT
North Durham CCG

8,638
47,008
192

149
167
1

2,740
108
909

107
0
2,985

Dr W Jose
Locality Chair 2nd - Sedgefield

Jubilee Medical Practice

397

1

0

109

V Watson
Locality Lead - Durham Dales

Weardale Practice

225

0

10

0

Dr S Sanghera
Locality Lead - Durham Dales

Weardale Practice

225

0

10

0

Dr D Roy
Medical Director

Oxford Road Medical Centre
NHS England

15
146

0
149

0
6

0
62

Dr J Smith
Quality Lead - Easington

Silverdale Family Practice

45

0

0

0

N Bailey
Chief Operating Officer

North Durham CCG

192

1

909

2,985

All of these transactions were undertaken under standard terms and conditions in the normal course of business.
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26. Financial performance targets
CCGs have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
The CCG's performance against those duties was as follows:
2014/15
Target
£000
Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions

2014/15
Performance
£000

2013/14
Target
£000

2013/14
Performance
£000

431,695

422,722

418,210

412,720

-

-

-

-

431,695

422,722

418,210

412,720

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not
exceed the amount specified in Directions

-

-

-

-

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does
not exceed the amount specified in Directions

-

-

-

-

7,513

6,453

7,070

6,186

Revenue administration resource use does not
exceed the amount specified in Directions

The CCG received no capital resource during 2014/15 and incurred no capital expenditure (2013/14: none).

Performance against the revenue expenditure duties is further analysed below:
2014/15
Programme
Resource
£000
Revenue resource
Net operating cost for the financial year
Underspend against revenue resource

424,182
416,269
7,913

2013/14
Programme
Resource
£000
Revenue resource
Net operating cost for the financial year
Underspend against revenue resource

411,140
406,534
4,606

30

2014/15
Administration
Resource
£000
7,513
6,453
1,060

2013/14
Administration
Resource
£000
7,070
6,186
884

2014/15
Total
£000
431,695
422,722
8,973

2013/14
Total
£000
418,210
412,720
5,490

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF DURHAM DALES,
EASINGTON AND SEDGEFIELD CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
We have audited the financial statements of Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield
Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) for the year ended 31 March 2015 under the Audit
Commission Act 1998. The financial statements comprise the Statement of Comprehensive
Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in
Taxpayers' Equity, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes 1 to 26. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the
accounting policies directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with the consent of the
Secretary of State as relevant to the National Health Service in England.
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is subject to audit,
being:
• the table of salaries and allowances of senior managers and related narrative notes
on pages 75 to 79;
• the table of pension benefits of senior managers and related narrative notes on
pages 87 to 89; and
• the table of pay multiples and related narrative notes on pages 85 and 86.
This report is made solely to the members of Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG
in accordance with Part II of the Audit Commission Act 1998 and for no other purpose, as set
out in paragraph 44 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies
published by the Audit Commission in March 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so
that we might state to the CCG those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.
Respective responsibilities of the Accountable Officer and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer's Responsibilities, the
Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for
being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express
an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the
Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors.
Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment
of:
• whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG's circumstances and
have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed;
• the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Accountable
Officer; and
• the overall presentation of the financial statements.
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report to
identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any
information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with,
the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of

any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our
report.
In addition, we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that
the expenditure and income reported in the financial statements have been applied to the
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities
which govern them.
Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income reflected in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions conform to the authorities which govern them.
Opinion on the financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:
•

•

give a true and fair view of the financial position of Durham Dales, Easington and
Sedgefield CCG as at 31 March 2015 and of its net operating costs for the year then
ended; and
have been prepared properly in accordance with the accounting policies directed by
the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary of State.

Opinion on other matters
In our opinion:
•

•

the part of the Remuneration Report subject to audit has been prepared properly in
accordance with the requirements directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with
the approval of the Secretary of State; and
the information given in the annual report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we report by exception
We report to you if:
• in our opinion the governance statement does not comply with NHS England's
guidance;
• we refer the matter to the Secretary of State under section 19 of the Audit
Commission Act 1998 because we have a reason to believe that the CCG, or an
officer of the CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision involving unlawful
expenditure, or is about to take, or has taken, unlawful action likely to cause a loss or
deficiency; or
• we issue a report in the public interest under section 8 of the Audit Commission Act
1998.
We have nothing to report in these respects.

Conclusion on the CCG's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
Respective responsibilities of the CCG and auditor
The CCG is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and
governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.
We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy ourselves that
the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
in its use of resources. The Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission requires
us to report to you our conclusion relating to proper arrangements, having regard to relevant
criteria specified by the Audit Commission in October 2014.
We report if significant matters have come to our attention which prevent us from concluding
that the CCG has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we
considered, whether all aspects of the CCG's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively.
Scope of the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of resources
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having
regard to the guidance on the specified criteria, published by the Audit Commission in
October 2014, as to whether the CCG has proper arrangements for:
•
•

securing financial resilience; and
challenging how it secures economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

The Audit Commission determined these two criteria as those necessary for us to consider
under its Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for
the year ended 31 March 2015.
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to form a view on
whether, in all significant respects, the CCG had put in place proper arrangements to secure
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
Conclusion
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criteria published
by the Audit Commission in October 2014, we are satisfied that, in all significant respects,
Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG put in place proper arrangements to secure
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March
2015.

Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of Durham Dales, Easington
and Sedgefield CCG in accordance with the requirements of the Audit Commission Act 1998
and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission.

Paul Thomson (Engagement Lead)
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Appointed Auditor
Newcastle Upon Tyne, United Kingdom
29 May 2015

